

June
May 1, 1944 - Thursday

Coming forth from self-imposed solitude today, called on two inconspicuous girl friends. ^{Yajoi Nishikawa & Lillian Morigi's sister} From one I received a glowing account of the funeral which had evidently been very impressive. At least 5,000 people were there said she, Mr. Best made a speech and the flowers were wonderful. It was too bad it was such a bad day - it rained ~~and~~ ~~spr~~ by fits and starts all day and the wind was cold and nasty - but still it went off very well.

The other girl ^{Morigi} remarked that ~~xxxxx~~ "he was lucky to have such a nice funeral" before she realized what she had said and grew embarrassed.

One of the girls ^{Nishikawa} (she is Mr. Harness' secretary and as far from a status quo supporter as one could imagine) stated worriedly, "It is going to be bad though if the soldier is acquitted. The people are just waiting to hear."

Heard from Opler that everything was very quiet. Will have to go in tomorrow myself and see. Huycke took a picture of the funeral for the Examiner - a step which was long debated by the Administration. No untoward results followed.

Stopped into see Harkness, Supt. of Education. He was extremely cordial and chatted for some time. ~~xxxxxxxxxxxxxxxx~~ He remarked that at the last incident, Nov. 4th Opler had predicted the night of Nov. 3 that everything was extremely quiet and he expected no trouble at all. (I didn't know this before.)

The Nisei here, Harkness went on to say, are really in a tough spot. Many do not know whether they are actually going to Japan or not. Many do not know if they can go. Consequently, they do not know whether to concentrate on their Japanese education or their English. "We can't help them with, because we don't know ourselves."

Wild Story from Caucasian employed in Hospital

Caucasian hospital employee reported that when Okamoto was brought in

June
~~MAY~~ 1, 1944, p. 2.

the Japanese standing around "were just praying for him to die and don't kid yourself." At a later gossip table ~~she remarked that~~ I expressed sympathy for the soldiers. "Don't give them any sympathy," said she. "They had all made up their minds that if this fellow is found guilty, they'd all start shooting up a few Japs. Then they couldn't do anything to the whole company."

The Caucasian staff as a whole has relaxed considerably in the past week. A week with no violent happening has been very quieting. Opler was almost gay this morning.

- - - - -

Encounter with ~~Schmitt~~ Schmitt

On my way to pick up my mail, caught sight of Schmitt about ten yards away. He immediately walked toward me and asked me kindly how I was, and remarking that he hadn't seen much of me lately. I explained I was pretty tired, having been working hard on my paper on Social Stratification. He advised me not to work too hard. I should take off and go to the movies sometimes. ^{He said} He thought I was mad at him. I smiled and assured him I was not mad at him. I was glad this encounter took place because it gives me the opening to be slightly more cordial toward him than I have been since my stay here, without arousing suspicion that I've been tipped off.

JUNE 2, 1944, Friday, p. 1

TALK WITH OPLER

Opler reported that Best's speech had made an extremely good impression on some evacuees. One had written a letter to Best which was just "gooey with compliments."

Leupp Internees released

All the boys confined in the stockade, who originally were from Leupp have been released today.

Internal Security and Poetry

Since the stockade has come under WRA control, Opler was able to call out some men and interview them. Naturally, with an Internal Security man present, he was unable to speak on any particularly vital topics. According to his account, which made a good story, a particularly dumb officer was stationed in the room with him. He and the internees held an animated discussion on poetry and theology. One particular gem quoted by Mohri[?], a member of the Negotiating Committee, in Japanese (although speech in Japanese was forbidden) when translated is: taking out the bath water to throw it on the ground, one is moved to stop by the pleasant voices of the insects. Meaning, one does not wish to slay this delightful sound with the bath water. The Internal S. man's eyes bugged out, he did his best to understand and finally confiscated the paper on which the poem was written. It is possible he thought it was code of some kind.

JUNE 3, 1944, SATURDAY *page 1*

Paid my first serious calls three days after the funeral. I was fortunate in finding Kurihara alone, and also in a communicative mood. Kurihara had been deeply impressed by Mr. Best's courage in ~~xxxxxx~~ attending and making a speech at the funeral.

Best's

~~xxxxxx~~

speech

I felt happy that he came and made that talk. Not to do it would have made the people more suspicious. I felt very good about it, Undoubtedly he created a better feeling by coming out than by staying away.

The Japanese people thought sure that he would send Mr. Valok or Mr. Robertson and that Mr. Best wouldn't come. They were surprised. He has regained some confidence. Coming in and speaking showed courage.

On Okamoto

I've heard that that boy was a very good boy. Many times as he was going in and out of the gate he noticed the boys with him making sarcastic remarks. He expressed his opinion in this way. He told the boys not to be sarcastic. The soldiers were on duty and were performing the duty as they were told. If you continue to antagonize the soldiers, he said, something might happen. Then he had to get it himself.

Sometimes I wonder if there's a God in the world.

It's a reflection on the U. S. army. The Military Police should be the model for the Army. Here they are acting, how should I say, rather rudely.

Kurahara went on to speak at some length on the fact that the Army now wasn't what the Army was when he was in the service. Then discipline was stricter. Soldiers were made to salute their officers. Now they don't have to if they don't want to.

AGITATION BEGINNING X

Then, prefacing his remark by stating that he really shouldn't tell me this, he said that certain hot-heads were already talking about what they were going to do if the verdict came out badly. They were not the ordinary people, but the "old group" who were going to make something of this. One man in particular ^(Wakayama) was making Kurihara so angry that if he continued he was going to go and thrash him. He had warned him once. This, said K. will probably land him in the stockade. If it does he will never tell the authorities why he beat ~~xxxxx~~ the man up.

JUNE 3, 1944, p. 2.

Kurihara feels that the agitating group is not working for the good of the people in this case, but only for their selfish ends. "They should be ashamed of themselves. The Internal Security should be conscious of this and stop this - "But the Internal Security....."

If K. goes on the war path things may really start popping.

CALL AT THE YAMASHIRO'S

Best's Speech

Yamashiro's reaction to Best's speech was quite different.

"I believe very many people understand that, mostly the issei. (He implies in kibi style that the people understand why Best made the speech.) Now he has confidence in their behaving peacefully. I was glad the light didn't go off. Last time he spoke it did go off (public address system) and he felt very bad."

He's good now, but think what happened last time. He's learned.

RELEASE OF BOYS FROM LEUPPE

I don't think that does any good. They spent ten months in Leuppe. Why should they stay in the stockade six months? Some have been in 16 months, counting Leuppe and the stockade.

- - - - -

VISIT WITH TWO GIRLS

Kimi Hashimoto and friend

The comparative release of tension on the part of the ordinary colonist is shown by the fact that two girls, very timid of offending their parents and neighbors, insisted on keeping an engagement I had ~~had~~ made with them previous to the shooting. While I do not wish to draw any hasty conclusions, agitating about this occurrence appears at present to be limited to certain blocks, Yamashiro's block, in fact, all of ward VI (66-74) appears very quiet. So does the ward comprising 22-24.

Kurihara on the other hand lives in a block contiguous to the agitating blocks ~~ward~~ and to the ward in which the Daihyo Sha had its headquarters.

5, Kai's block, 6, Matsuda's block and 11, the headquarter's block.

I have also not heard from my friends the Oda's in block 59 - very strong status quo and ^{Nishino} Bill from block 54, a 50-50 block in which both parties ^{pro and anti-status quo} are very militant.

JUNE 3rd 1944, p. 3.

These two nisei girls feel very lost and unhappy in Tule. They are studying Japanese, but their heart is not in it. The conversation continually turned to friends in Gila and to those who had relocated. ~~One girl's~~ One girl's sister was going with the family for whom she was working outside, to Michigan for her vacation. "Just think," she signed enviously.

I was asked again if there were any truth in the rumor that the exchange ship was coming soon. That these dislodged nisei are the unhappiest people in Tule Lake is not open to much question.

Addenda to Yamashiro

Have just recalled that Yamashiro also asked me ~~why~~ if it were true that Robertson was going to be project director. On the subject of "trouble" he remarked that he ~~wouldn't~~ wouldn't mind. He'd get a kick out of watching it.

SUNDAY? MUNE 4, 1944, p. 1.

In an interview with Best today I received the following information and attitudes. Best is at present pretty sure of himself and very gratified over the reception the Administration's policy of the shooting has received up to date. Tuesday he is having the whole Okamoto family brought to his office and is going over the entire transcript of the Coroner's inquest with them, ~~to show~~ in an attempt to show them why the verdict - that the soldiers deed was justifiable was brought in. He will then attempt to explain that the Court Martial will be held in an entirely different atmosphere, that officers not tied up with the post here will preside. (I don't know ~~why~~ much about Court Martial/s and so do not know whether this is true or not.) Best has been very much impressed by the character and the intelligence of the Okamoto family and is banking strongly on their influence in holding down agitation. They have, it seems, never been connected with the Baihyo Sha group and so far have not allowed them to have any part in the funeral arrangements. Best added that the statement made by the brother and printed in the ~~Tule Lake~~ Newell Star was made entirely on the brother's own volition.

Best hopes and ~~expects~~ expects that the "good solid Japanese people" will be averse to agitating on this question. He realizes, however, that a verdict of acquittal will be followed by trouble of some sort.

Having the family in to look at the transcript is, in my opinion, a good idea. Although the evidence is rumored to be "pretty terrible" evacuees always appreciate confidence and information. In every conflict which has been noted in centers, the cry is always raised, "Why didn't they tell us. Why do they always try to keep us in the dark."

Best made some uncomplimentary remarks about Opler, a habit which he is purported to have and use toward all members of the staff, i. e., making dirty cracks behind their backs. Opler says Best, works too damn hard, he meets only a certain group of people; Best has advised him to do more calling and meet different people. Incidentally, Best expressed his

June 4, 1944, p. 2.

Approval of my practice of visiting many different people in their homes, particularly the "common people" in whom he has faith. They let him down badly in November, however, but he appears to be ready to trust them again.

Best stressed that his hardest problem here was his staff. They give him more worry than all the Japanese put together. He never expects an untroubled state here in Tule Lake and his ambition is to keep trouble down to a minimum.

(I learned from Opler that Best's speech, which has made such an excellent impression, was written by Spicer. From Spicer's draft Best omitted the phrase - "a just and wise decision will be made." Opler, who is straining his brain to try to guess what the decision will be, is inclined to optimism. He keeps talking about putting pressure on Best to force a good decision. Markley thinks the soldier will be found guilty. Robertson is just about 90% sure that he will be acquitted and that the news will be kept from the people for months and months. Naturally, I am questioned by evacuees at every meeting as to what it is going to say, and always reply that I haven't any idea. Pessimism over the verdict as far as the evacuees are concerned appears to be less right now than it was immediately after the newspaper accounts of the ~~Abraham Lincoln~~ inquest. Best's speech may have quieted their fears, somewhat. The staff on the other hand is largely convinced that it is going to be an acquittal. One young woman in statistics has told staff members and even mentioned to evacuees employees that she sent in the Court Martial acquittal verdict to Washington. This has spread widely among the staff, but, so far as I am able to determine, not widely among the Japanese. The extreme quiet on the part of the colonists has, however, contributed greatly to the Staff's peace of mind. I am pumped constantly by staff members for what I know which is nothing, but avoid much of this by eating most of my meals in my room.)

June 4, p. 3.

VISIT AT "I'S" HOME

Takeshi (called I)

"I" was taking a nap when I arrived so I talked for about a half hour with his women folk, his wife and her sister. The conversation for some reason turned to inus. ~~Abnbnbnbn~~ They had thought that when they came to Tule Lake they would be through with inus, but had found here that there were more of them than ever. Every place you look you can see one. "I"'s sister/^{in-law} remarked that you couldn't even have a small meeting anywhere but what some inu would go and report it to the Administration. Mrs. M, the violent lady came in. She made no bones about stressing how bored and disappointed she was in Tule Lake. She has been here 10 days. There is nothing at all doing here. She had thought that there were some people of backbone here, but now she finds they're all washrags. She talked wildly about getting herself put in the stockade, "just so she could see what was going on there," a line of conversation which rather embarrassed the other women, who kept glancing at me to see if I were taking it badly. Then she shifted to talking about going out to the free zone and keeping tabs on the "strange things" that Japanese were doing there. Eventually she got most of it off her chest and went out again, well dressed as usual, to see some friends and find out if she could find anybody with backbone. "I" finally woke up and came out of the other room to join us. He immediately gave with the latest mess division gossip.

Mr. Wells "I" asked me what I thought of Mr. Wells, the Asst. Project Director in charge of Project Management(?). I said I did not know him well enough to make up my mind. He didn't like him:

Wells impressed me as a sort of weasely kind of fellow. Here's why. We're constructing a baking factory here. He has a grand vision of eliminating getting bread from the outside after this baking factory goes into action. When the bakery is under way they'll make two hundred loaves of bread a day. That ought to be sufficient for the needs of the project, he said. I said to myself, 'Man, what kind of a brain has that guy got?' We're using 4,000 to 4,500 loaves of bread a day now. But I didn't say anything; let him try it.

June 4, 1944, p. 4.

(Those present indulged in a little mental arithmetic and decided that if Wells project were followed it would ~~not~~ give each evacuee roughly 1/100 of a loaf a bread a day.) Mrs. M., who had not yet left, stated that then she was going to start trouble. She couldn't eat rice and had to have bread. She was going to Social Welfare and demand bread.) I controlled a small desire to ask her ~~to~~ what she intended to do when she got to Japan.)

Hoover and the spoiling ham andbacon

"We have a fine hog farm here. They bring them up right, feed them well and then slaughter them. Then they make bacon - but they don't know how. They put it in a little room and build a little fire there, made out of garbage for all I know, and all it does is just burn them black on the outside. Then Hoover has the boys hand it on hooks. Everybody knows that the protection bacon has is the rind on one side and the fat on the other. When it's hung on hooks it's open to contamination. There it hangs and it's so well smoked it just oozes. Then they put it in the icebox and it contaminates all the fresh beef.

I got hold of a major from the Army the other day. I got him to go and look at the smoke house. He went and looked at it. So they closed us the smoke house and the slaughter house too. I cut my own throat I guess. We won't get any pork now. But it'd be better to give us fresh pork than that lousy bacon.

("I's" sister-in-law added here that they had been served sour bacon in the mess that everyone refused to eat.)

Last month we had 3,500 lbs. of pork. I knew it was about to go bad and suggested that we issue it. No, says Hoover, let's wait till we get a little more and make a complete issue. We waited and we had to dump 18,000 lbs. of pork.

(Opler corroborated that a great deal of pork had to be thrown out recently.)

I figure that Hoover must know somebody high up in the Administration. I've put the skids under him twice and each time nothing happened.

Rest's Speech at Funeral

I will have to give the man credit. He really has done his best. I didn't go to the funeral myself. But he attended the funeral and called the half holiday. Reading the speech it didn't seem much different than the notice he sent to the mess halls. I thought it was a darn good idea as far as he is concerned. If that was the full text of his speech I think he's pretty smart. He said just enough, no more. He didn't lay it on too thick.

He's more popular now than he has been since the beginning of the camp.

June 4, 1944, p. 5.

Regardless of why he did it, the fact stands that he did do it. That's what you have to give the man credit for. It couldn't all have been prompted through selfishness. I don't believe a man who wrote that speech could be entirely selfish. He could have stayed at home and let one of his stooges come down.

Soldiers at the gate

We've got some nice boys at the gate now. There used to be some guys who'd make you step out, drive the truck through the gate and then get back in. They're getting pretty good now.

Stockade and Mess

I got Hayward to crack down on the stockade boys the other day. They thought they were going to run Mess Operations. They wanted us to give them their ration daily instead of weekly. I'll be damned if I'll weigh out 37 pounds of rice every day and $4\frac{1}{2}$ pounds of sugar.

Sugimoto, one of the public agitators number 1, sent a letter to the Spanish Consul, telling him the boys in the stockade were getting only 14¢ a day for food. I told Hayward to tell Best that the stockade is getting food on the same ~~xxxxx~~ scale as the colony. If the Spanish Consul thinks that's not food enough, have him come in and look at the books.

Confidentially, I've been giving those boys a break. I knew their only pleasure they had was eating so I've even advanced them sugar on their next week ration. But not anymore. Since Sugimoto started to ~~xxxxx~~ make trouble, I've not advanced, and they've been without sugar since Thursday and won't get any till Tuesday.

The Jam Agitator

There's a guy in mess 42 who's really a chest beating agitator. He keeps demanding more jam for his mess, when he knows damn well there's no more jam in the warehouse. He insists it's put on the menu. Then when the people don't get their jam, he makes speeches telling them all he's trying to do for them.

Trouble over Shooting

"I" does not believe there is going to be any big trouble over the shooting. "All the goon-squad members are resting peacefully in the stockade. If the verdict is bad, things may change.

BEST CRACKS DOWN ON SOLDIERS

Learned from Opler that Best had protested vigorously to the Army over rude behavior on the part of some of the sentries at the gate and that those men had been removed. This, according to Opler is the first time, Best had taken so strong a step.

Tuesday
June 6, 1944, ~~Wednesday~~, p. 1.

Oda
The following is a letter received from an old friend "O" of
a definitely conservative bent.

dated June 5, 1944

Thank you for your letter and sincere courtesy. I deeply regret that the tragic occurrence had to stop your visiting which I was expecting with great interest.

Generally speaking, the attitude and sentiment of the colony toward shooting incident is very quiet and does not make sharp and strong criticism in comparison to the last year's incident. It seems to give me a hint that on account of the past experienced troublesome period, the colonists are acting much more sensibly and observing the present existing condition with the eyes of great interest.

As far as I can observe the present existing public sentiment, I hope that probably there will be no public disturbance or see the slightest tendency of trouble and pressure group. However, it appears to me that the colonists have received considerable shock and a tendency of great anger toward thoughtless cruel barbaric in-human being attitude of the military police.

Other day we held the regular ward meeting and a Block Manager brought up the sincere hope of request by the people, concerning inhuman attitude of the military police toward the recent tragic incident that hereafter, the w.r.a. would guarantee and take proper measurement and caution for our safety and security especially employees of the center. We do not want to repeat the tragic history. If these tragedies occur in any event, it will be the most disastrous thing to see and will greatly effect the public welfare and affairs in the future of the center. With understanding, the mutual cooperation and for the future of the center we must prevent and take safety measure from now on to promote public welfare and the harmonious way of living.

Since November's incident, it appears to me the general policy of the center has been very much complicated and changed on the part of the administration. To the best of my knowledge, we seem to have two authorities, w.r.a. and the army. This will induce us into contradiction of our minds to understand the policy and the settlement of difficult problems with the authorities. According to the statement of the Project Director, Mr. Best stated that w.r.a. will not be responsible for the shooting. In this case, the colony naturally think the army will take the fullest measurement for responsibility of shooting.

We understand that segregation in this center are given the fullest protection and w.r.a. enforces the laws in order to maintain the public in order and peace according to their regulations and that the army will protect our safety and security with the fullest cooperation of w.r.a. The most significant point which always is miscomprehended and contradict our minds is whether the army has authority or not within the barbed wire fence is the public curiosity toward the administration of w.r.a. From time to time, I hear the people saying that the army has no authority within the barbed wire fence whatever, and w.r.a. has the fullest power to control the entire center. The people feel the army is supposed not to stay in the boundary of w.r.a. This sounds very reasonable but we do not know what degree is the truth.

Tule Lake Center is known as the segregation camp and in comparison to the other nine Relocation Centers, the state of this center might entirely be different on administration policy of the w.r.a. On account of this the center might need the combined authorities over the administration. The colony sincerely

June 6, 1944, p. 2.

hope that either one of them must take responsibility, otherwise we will have no authority to conform and to protect our safety and security.

With the most prudent attitude and the greatest interest, the colony is observing the progress of the present affairs and those false communication and broadcasting over radio deeply degrade the public morale and extremely irritate the public sentiment and anger. As the most typical characteristic of the Orient races, especially, Japanese has a great tendency toward excitement, irritation and judge things sentimentally. In consideration of these facts I sincerely hope that the authority take thorough steps for the investigation and the justice will be done for a better solution. Also I have confidence that the colony is eagerly waiting with great expectation for the official announcement of the truth.

In typical kibe style the writer of the above letter has hinted at many important attitudes which have been more frankly stated by other informants.

WILD CAT JAPANESE SCHOOLS

From two Caucasians I have heard accounts of certain "wild-cat" Japanese schools which are springing up here and there in the camp stress Japanese training of the most severe sort and refuse to come under the authority of the legitimate Japanese schools. Mr. Best has taken some action (I don't know what) but apparently it has had little result. The organizers of the schools are according to rumor, young kibe of very pro-Japanese leanings. The curricula, which includes physical training, ~~xxxxxxxxxxxx~~ is said to be very vigorous.

Another Caucasian teacher, a reliable informant, states that young people are constantly dropping out ~~xxxxxx~~ of her classes due to pressure from home that they should not attend the English schools at all.

June 8, 1944, Thursday

Today called on Yamashiro to ~~take~~ him tape which I had bought in Klamath Falls, tape designed to decorate the uniforms of the geinin-dan ball ~~team~~ ^(Doi) team. Another friend from Leupp ^(Doi) was also calling and although this boy did not speak English very well we carried on a considerable conversation. The boys did most of the talking in English and Japanese while I drank tea and listened. The friend said that he had heard that Mr. Robertson had been demoted because he got on too well with the Japanese. He himself, had a very high regard for Mr. Robertson, having met him through some negotiations on work. He acted like a gentleman, said this youngman.

Yamashiro then switched to one of the favorite camp topics, the prevalence of inu. What he couldn't understand, said he, was what these inu thought they were getting out of it. True, they might end up with three or four thousand dollars, but after the war nobody would have them; neither the Caucasians nor the Japanese would associate with them. I said, I doubted if inu were making that much money. "No," agreed Yamashiro, "They're probably doing it just for 16 a ~~week~~ ^{with}." "Yes," added ^{Doi} the friend, "they have an office now in 701." (Oppler's office.) "How's that?" said I. "It's run by a fellow names Popler," explained the friend ^{Doi}. He's a good guy but the fellows working ~~for~~ for him are inu. Popler had asked him to work for him, but he wouldn't do it for anything. Not with those guys around, anyway.

On the peoples' sentiment toward the shooting, Yamashiro said the people were quiet, but that was no reason for the administration to get optimistic. Things were tense and if something funny happened, things would blow up just as they did in November. If the verdict was acquittal it would have been better to come out it with at once, ~~stating~~ stating all the facts and the evidence, rather than let the people remain in this jumpy state of mind.

In mixed Japanese and English Yamashiro related another version of the block 54 trouble ^{Minamoto}. It seems that one of the wardens who kept admonishing the boys was suspected of being an inu. The people in the block resented the

JUNE 8, 1944, p. 2.

^{Mr. Schmitt} man^{and} his family and eventually wrote a petition that he and his companion also an issei, be moved out of the block. ~~Mr. Schmitt~~ ~~They~~ They also requested that they be taken from the Internal Security force. The evacuee head of internal security ^{Shimoda} refused this, so the people countered with a request that he be removed. Mr. Schmitt refused to do this. Now everybody know that the ~~Mr. Schmitt~~ evacuee head of Internal Security is an inu too - else why would Schmitt be so anxious to protect him?

Yamashiro again suggested taking down the fence.
(Resentment against inu and against the evacuee Internal Security as inu ~~it~~ appears to be growing. It is introduced into the conversation at almost every visit I make, even ~~with~~ young girls/ will go off into tirades against the inu.)

TALK WITH KURIHARA

I found Kurihara studying Japanese and was going to excuse myself, but he invited me to stay because conversation was good for him and rested his eyes.

He reported two current rumors, now widely spread over camp, that the fence between the colony and the Administrative Area was going to be taken down in July and that people would be allowed to make excursions to the nearby hills. These two rumors, whether true or not, were making people feel very much better. He had heard that the janitors were to be allowed to go out first - ~~thy're~~ names were even being put down. If the janitors went, everybody would feel better, because then they would feel that someday maybe they could go out too.

General public sentiment over the shooting, said Kurihara is quieting down, but seeing soldiers come into camp, where they have no business, still makes the people feel badly. Kurihara stated that he had been questioned by Japanese because Mr. Robertson and I visited him. He told these questioners that his conscience was clear. (Note - mustn't go so often as I have been.)

June 8, 1944, p. 3.

The ubiquitous inu intruded into the conversation again. Having inu around, said Kurihara kept everybody on edge. Everybody suspected everybody else and it led to a great deal of hard feeling. It kept the people in a constant state of tension

Addenda to Yamashiro

Yamashiro made the statement happily: "Boy, status quo feeling is sure strong now." His friend ^{Don} agreed. "In my block," said he, "people said they weren't going to put up any representatives. If they did, the representatives would just get into trouble."

Yamashiro anticipates trouble in the future with considerable glee. "People here aren't afraid. The Administration put up the stockade and thinks now that people are afraid. But they're not. They're not afraid of the stockade, or Leupp or even jail. Look how they acted when the draft came out. Eighty percent of the boys had their suitcases packed to go to Leuppe. They weren't afraid. Now if anything happens and the camp blows up, they're not going to be afraid either."

Friday, June 9, 1944 p. 1

Robertson (called Y)

Picked up considerable interesting information from "Y" last night.

All of this authentic.

A rather large number of the stockade internees are going to be sent to Sanat Fe, sometime in the near future. This may happen next week or in several weeks. "Y" is of the opinion that it will cause a disturbance, how large he does not know, in the colony. Moreover, 100 men are to be terminated, probably the beginning of next week. These men have been loafing on the job and are to be let off without notice. The Newell Star does not come out till Thursday, so no ~~very~~ explanatory notice can be placed in it. Past experience at Gila has shown that when something like this happens - even when the people are in a good mood - trouble is very likely to follow. From another source - "Z" - it's the coal crew which will be terminated.

Sometime the beginning of this week a mess worker got drunk and attacked a soldier, a rather popular soldier say evacuee informants, with a meat cleaver. He is now in the stockade. When sober, the evacuee is said to have an even quiet disposition. ^{Tateishi} "I" stated that he was afraid that this unexplained drunkenness on the part of a Japanese might start another house to house search for sake stills, which would be a very unwise thing to do at this time.

The soldiers have not been allowed to enter the colony since the day of the funeral.

There is no truth whatever in the current colony rumors that the fence is to be taken down in July and the people are soon going to be allowed to have more freedom in making excursions into the hills outside of the fence.

Was also told that Tateishi, a Japanese employed by Mr. Markley is truly inu number one. An interesting type of counter-espionage has been started by some colonists. ^{Mitsuko Kimura} One man is known and several are rumored to have now joined Markley's staff just so they may keep their eye on Tateishi.

June 10, Saturday, 1944, p. 1.

Passing the base-ball diamond this afternoon where the big weekly game was going on, was cordially greeted by Messrs. Komura and Yamashiro. This made me feel good, since when the general public is as sour as it is now, it takes pretty much courage to appear on good terms with a Caucasian in front of a large group of people. Proceeded on to Mr. Komura's sister-in-law's house, where I gave her the buttons procured at Klamath Falls. Only significant remark made during long conversation was, "The people haven't forgotten and they aren't going to forget '(the shooting)."

TALK WITH "I" Jakenchi (called I)

"I" was sleepy. Moreover, we gorged on so much cheese and bread purloined from the mess that not much was said.

Hayward's New Policy for Stewards

Hayward has started a policy of having the stewards go in and have one meal a day in the colony mess halls. Hoover has skinned out of this by claiming that his stomach has been bothering him. Hayward says he's going to have to think up a better one than that next week. Naturally, he knows he's unpopular in the colony. They have to eat lunch in the colony every day except Saturday or Sunday.

In the new mess office Hayward hasn't given any of them separate offices. He says he doesn't want to give them offices or they'll just be sitting around all day. He says the place for a steward is out in the colony where he can keep in contact with the colony mess.

Giri - Term used to explain public backing of the representatives.

The best translation I can think of is: moral obligations, to men or to the committee. We sent them up there for an actual purpose and since they did that we feel we should give them our undivided support. It's 90% up here (here "I" tapped his forehead).

WRA change in Policy

I've been wondering how WRA has come to change so much. They've been at it for the last month and a half now. Always before it was the iron fist within the kid glove. If anything, instead of going back to the old "do what you like and let 'em take it," they better just pull on another pair of kid gloves.

Treatment at Gate

In this respect they're becoming quite reasonable. In fact, they're lax. You'd be surprised how people appreciate it. It makes them feel half way decent. They don't feel like animals anymore.

JUNE 10, p. 2.

Mrs. ~~W~~^{Mizuno} M. now came in and asked "I" in Japanese whether he had gone to the meeting where the possibility of bringing the Okamoto case before the Spanish Consul was to be discussed. "I" replied, "No, I don't go to any ~~of~~ of those meetings." He then went on to explain that his block # (34) was one of the strong status quo blocks - one of the gengyoiji blocks. However, because of the baseball game this afternoon, very few people had attended the meeting. What made him laugh, said he, was that when the status quo broke, these gengyo iji guys had been the first to go back to work. Returning to the topic of the gates he said:

"I think if it could be possible it might be a darned good idea to get the Army away from the gates entirely and put decent Internal Security men there, unarmed."

Wells' Idea on Mess

Wells wants to have each block mess staffed only by people who live in the block. That's not a good idea. Whenever you have people in your own block in the mess halls it's very difficult to lodge a complaint. You can't complain about people when you come face to face with them every day. Another thing, when the mess halls are staffed by people in the block there's always a lot of food that doesn't get to the people in the block. It's too close to home. Especially they can sneak things out on the early morning crew when they get there at 4:30 A. M.

Tuesday, June 13, 1944, p. 1.

Heard early this morning that Best was off the project for some unspecified errand. Later heard that another man had been beating up in the colony - for suspected inu activities.

CALL ON MRS. Q. *Matsuda - (called Q)*

Made first call on Mrs. Q, in a little over two weeks. Met several recently released stockade internees at her house. She told me that the stockade internees had managed to contact a lawyer in San Francisco and were going to bring some legal action against the WRA. However, Mr. Best had refused to allow this lawyer entrance into the Colony. She also made several mysterious remarks on how the Administration was going to be surprised pretty soon.

MISCELLANEOUS INFORMATION PICKED UP AT OPLER'S BIRTHDAY PARTY

Singer Jerada
Tonight the young lady ~~who~~ for several days past has been staging a sit down strike in the Internal Security Office for the release of George Kuratomi, father of her illegitimate child, was delivered of a six pound girl. So the sit down strike is over. The young woman had stated in Internal Security Office that ~~she~~ was going to sit there until George, ex-President of the Daihyo Sha Kai, married her. George didn't want to marry her, however. When the news of the birth was brought to the party, Mr. Robertson left for the stockade, which is nearby, to see that the news was taken to George. The Internal Security Man on guard said it wasn't important enough.

Opler also mentioned that at a recent meeting the block managers had stated that they want to meet with the Administration now and then. This matter of having the block managers act as go-betweens has been suggested by several of my informants for the last two months. The colony reasoning is: you can't stick a block manager in the stockade. Also, since most of Tule's block managers are elected, the colonists have some control over the man who gets this position.

June 13, 1944, p. 2.

While walking home alone at about 11:30 p. m., suddenly encountered Schmitt. He called to me that Mr. Morimoto had just been beaten up. He was on the way to look over the scene and asked me to find out what I could in the colony tomorrow. This made me sore but I merely said that I hadn't gone into block 54 for three weeks because of the trouble brewing.

Morimoto it will be remembered is one of the wardens living in 54 who is considered an inu/~~and~~ He and another warden in the same block were the objects of a petition signed by the block residents, asking that these men be moved out of the block. Schmitt refused and offered them "his protection."

WEDNESDAY, JUNE 14, 1944. p. 1.

TALK WITH MR. U.; VERY INFLUENTIAL ISSEI, EX-SANTA FE INTERNEE

*Tachibana
(called U)*

This was my second call on this intelligent power behind the scenes. He was extremely courteous and gladly gave me his opinion of the results of the shooting incident.

As you know the shooting took place in such a manner that it was liable to cause almost any kind of trouble with grave consequence. But with the experience of the past, residents of this center kept themselves very quiet, knowing themselves how serious a matter it was. The Administration has done a very marvelous way of taking the matter very cautiously, trying to calm the feelings of the residents.

The question of sincerity and sympathy to the family, in my opinion, on the part of the Administration is doubtful. But they have worked in a very very wise way to prevent some incident which might occur. Leaving the funeral to be a camp funeral was done very excellently and that I appreciate and admire. The Administration was wise in persuading the residents to perform the public funeral. That was one of the reasons which should be considered important in calming down the feelings of the people. Mr. Best was very wise in making the funeral so big. It made people feel very good, with the expense of the residents. If this was a public funeral, which the Administration sincerely recognized it, it should have paid part of the funeral expenses from the government or the Administration.

The committee who represented the funeral was more or less pulled in as tools of Mr. Best. (These were the Divisional Responsible men of status quo breaking fame.)

If I had been a member of that responsible committee to perform the funeral I would certainly have discussed the matter with Mr. Best, so at least a certain part of the funeral would have been paid by the ~~funeral~~ Administration. This time they paid exactly the same amount as for any other funeral, \$173.

"Enough for the coffin," interjected Mrs. U.

On Evacuee Status

If the Administration treated us as loyal Japanese, loyal to Japan, they would have had no trouble at all. But they still think we are loyal to America. They should treat us like prisoners of war in a certain sense. They should treat us according to the Geneva convention and International law. Our mind is clear now. We are disloyal.

Murimoto
I then mentioned that Mr. M. had been beaten up. "He wasn't killed though?" asked Mrs. U disappointedly. I asked Mr. U. frankly what he thought of such beatings. Were persons not guilty of being intimidated and mistreated by violently inclined people?

On the Inu beatings

This is only my feeling on the matter. Knowing the Japanese as a race, knowing them for their courtesy and their good behavior, I say that if anyone is beaten there should be a certain fundamental reason for it.

WEDNESDAY, June 14, p. 2.

I hate to see any Japanese beaten by our countrymen. The fundamental reason for such beatings might be caused by the way this camp is governed.

If I were head of this camp, I would realize the condition and the attitudes of the people. I would order something to be done and as long as I was convinced that such an order was beneficial for the residents I would stick to it. Mr. Best is trying to make the camp peaceful by trying to make the Japanese people change from being loyal to Japan to being loyal to America.

No Japanese would be able to solve this camp's problems unless Mr. Best realizes the conditions and is willing to help us. And when he is willing to help the Japanese make this a most peaceful camp, then I'm certainly willing to help him.

Present evacuee groups close to Mr. Best

If any little representative organization or any little gathering of people now having close approach to Mr. Best - they are not hastening making the camp better, but they are prolonging the trouble. They are petit politicians. I think that in the very near future the time will arise so that the camp arise and the camp will become very peaceful.

"And I hope," added Mrs. U. with great sincerity, "that you will be here to watch this when it happens."

TALK WITH "Y" *Robertson - (called Y)*

Learned that the block managers' request to Mr. Best had not been one for closer cooperation but had been a request that complaints from the people be channeled directly to Mr. Best rather than to Mr. Huyoko - (See Notes for June 15, for more information)

Y. also reported that there was considerable reverberation in the colony over the Coal Crew termination. Ex-members of the coal crew were going about telling people they had been terminated for nothing at all. The people were becoming alarmed by this since the employment situation is so critical anyway. People are saying "Why couldn't you publish why you laid them off?"

Spanish Consul "Picked" committee

The Spanish Consul has written a report asking for a detailed report on the Okamoto shooting. Mr. Black suggested calling for a representative group of issei. Since the suggestion came from the Administration the people are looking askance at the whole thing. To them it looks like a move to put a pro-administration group on the committee. There is a rumor in camp

WEDNESDAY, June 14, p. 2.

I hate to see any Japanese beaten by our countrymen. The fundamental reason for such beatings might be caused by the way this camp is governed.

If I were head of this camp, I would realize the condition and the attitudes of the people. I would order something to be done and as long as I was convinced that such an order was beneficial for the residents I would stick to it. Mr. Best is trying to make the camp peaceful by trying to make the Japanese people change from being loyal to Japan to being loyal to America.

No Japanese would be able to solve this camp's problems unless Mr. Best realizes the conditions and is willing to help us. And when he is willing to help the Japanese make this a most peaceful camp, then I'm certainly willing to help him.

Present evacuee groups close to Mr. Best

If any little representative organization or any little gathering of people now having close approach to Mr. Best - they are not hastening making the camp better, but they are prolonging the trouble. They are petit politicians. I think that in the very near future the time will arise so that the camp arise and the camp will become very peaceful.

"And I hope," added Mrs. U. with great sincerity, "that you will be here to watch this when it happens."

TALK WITH "Y" *Robertson - called Y*

Learned that the block managers' request to Mr. Best had not been one for closer cooperation but had been a request that complaints from the people be channeled directly to Mr. Best rather than to Mr. Huycke - (See Notes for June 15, for more information)

Y. also reported that there was considerable reverberation in the colony over the Coal Crew termination. Ex-members of the coal crew were going about telling people they had been terminated for nothing at all. The people were becoming alarmed by this since the employment situation is so critical anyway. People are saying "Why couldn't you publish why you laid them off?"

Spanish Consul "Picked" committee

The Spanish Consul has written a report asking for a detailed report on the Okamoto shooting. Mr. Black suggested calling for a representative group of issei. Since the suggestion came from the Administration the people are looking askance at the whole thing. To them it looks like a move to put a pro-administration group on the committee. There is a rumor in camp

WEDNESDAY, June 14, p. 3.

Tthat this committee was apparently proposed by the men who were members of the Coordinating Committee. The people fear it will turn out to be just an extension of the Coordinating Committee. Suspicion of this issei group to meet the Spanish Consul, the stockade issue, hatred of the police dept. which in some cases has risen to whisperings of murder, and hatred of the inu appear to be the dominant camp attitudes at present.

THURSDAY, JUNE 15, 1944, p. 1

TALK WITH NISEI GIRL *Kayo Iida*

This young lady whom I shall call "F" is becoming ~~very~~ slowly more frank in her conversations. Today she stressed the power of the public support which the Daihyo Sha Kai had in November, stated that the people were becoming more and more angry over the stockade matter, especially the continued imprisonment of innocent people (here her eyes filled with tears) and stated that if Kai and Kuratomi were released, she was sure they were intelligent and honorable men and would make no trouble. Such statements from a nisei girl are rather unusual. She also told me that the man who had been beaten the night of June 12? (not Morimoto) was a certain Mr. Hitomi who had been connected with the Co-op. At first the people thought they had gotten the wrong man, but later found he was the guy they were after.

TALK WITH MAY IWOHARA

May is provoked with the Administration and with Mr. Best. It seems that Mr. Best offered her a job as an assistant Administrative Secretary but she preferred to take a job with Civic Organizations "since it's too far to walk to the Administration Building every day and she has been troubled with corns." Mr. Best seemed to look on this as an insufficient excuse and told her she would be demoted to 16.00 a month at Civic. She took the demotion and is now provoked.

Proposed Labor Organization Growing out of Okamoto Shooting

Because of this shooting they wanted to make some sort of labor organization to protect the workers. Mr. Best said he was really distressed over the incident but politics should not be involved in the funeral; it should be a purely religious matter, purely a matter of paying tribute to the deceased. It was the former members of the Coordinating Committee who went to see him. ~~They~~

May gave me copies of the meeting of the Divisional Responsible Men at which this organization was conceived and Akitsuki's report of the meeting with Mr. Best, the significant parts of which will be included here.

May 26, 1944

K. Okamoto ex-Co-ordinating Committee and Supervisor of the Construction Division presided.

The Chairman addressed the body and stated that the special meeting was called for the purpose of discussing future preventive or precautionary measures to avoid the recurrence of an incident similar or diverse in nature to the one

THURSDAY, JUNE 15, p. 2.

in which James Okamoto was a victim, as well as take steps in assisting in any way possible with the disposition of the case.

The Chairman called on Mr. Henry Shiohama, an eye witness of the incident, who then read his statement of the detailed account of the incident as he saw it. Many questions were asked of and thereupon answered by him. Some were as follows:

1. Was the guard disagreeable? (Ans. Yes.
2. How long was the guard stationed there? (Ans.) I don't know, only that, in the morning, a different guard was stationed there.
3. When the sentry gave the signal, was the truck outside the fence? (Ans.) Yes. However the actual shooting took place inside of the gate.
4. When the sentry made the statement, "Don't get fresh. You and your WRA friends are trying to run the whole camp," were you in the truck? (Ans.) Yes. This sentry made the statement and came around to Okamoto's side.
5. Was the sentry an American or a Mexican? (Ans.) He had a dark complexion, was short, and not too tall. I couldn't tell.
6. Was Campbell of the Construction who came in a V-8 close enough to your truck to hear the conversation? (Ans.) He was right in back of our truck. So the distance was near enough to hear the conversation.
7. Did the Heavy Equipment boys hear the conversation? (Ans.) I believe so. Some of the boys were standing on the bumper.

Mr. Kondo then reported that he, on behalf of the Construction, and Mr. Nashimoto of the Motor Pool had consulted the Project Director requesting a guaranty of safety to all those passing the Gate hereafter to which Mr. Best replied that a 'guaranty' may not be possible, however, utmost effort will be exerted toward the insurance of safety. Hereafter workers going out to the farm and Garbage crew going out of the Gate may notify the Internal Security for extra precaution. Mr. Kondo also mentioned that he had suggested the institution of the Colonial Police force at the gate to which it was informed that Mr. Schmidt is studying the matter of placing the force about 20 or 30 feet from the Gate to prevent future disruptions. However, Mr. Kondo regretted, since the scope of negotiation is limited within the bounds of the Construction and Motor Pool divisions only, weight of negotiation is not as strong as may otherwise be if a body of representatives from all divisions supported.

B. Akitsuki then mentioned how much the Administrative Personnel's visit to the bereaved family had contributed toward the feelings of the colonists.

Upon question of the Chairman as to whether any divisions had undergone a work stoppage because of the incident, no case of substantial importance was reported. Having maintenance of peace in the Center as our object, even an allusion of such an action should be given discouragement.

Mr. Yamatani then brought up by way of reference how he had advised and forewarned Lt. Collins the very morning of the incident to change the abusive and disagreeable attitude of the M.P.'s toward those passing the Gate, otherwise, such matters, however little and small in nature, may be a spark from which another incident may transpire. In view of the present incident and in view of the lack of a central representative body, Mr. Yamatani pointed out the pressing need for a workers' organization for the protection and security of the workers. B. Akitsuki then questioned whether the organization of such a group would affect the establishment of an conflict with the

THURSDAY, June 15, p. 3.

functions of the contemplated Representative Committee. To this question, some opinioned that the body would strictly be a worker's organization, dealing only with matters effecting the welfare and interests of the workers, it should virtually not affect or conflict with the Committee. Mr. Kawamura thought that the body should merely be a temporary one, elastic in its structure, and subject to dissolution at any time when its existence, directly or indirectly, impeded the bringing about of the organization of the Committee. Mr. Shimada suggested that the body should be in existence until the formation of the Committee. Some even opinioned that the organization of this body should be withheld until the respective responsible men have first consulted the divisional workers. However, the general consensus of opinion was that even a temporary group to deal with the immediately pending problems, such as insurance of safety when passing through the Gates, be formed. Then, future plans for a workers' group may be discussed and decided upon later, subsequent to the Administration's approval or rejection.

Thereupon the following persons were selected on a temporary committee:

- | | | |
|---------------------|-------------------|-------------------|
| 1. George Yamatani. | 6. Hideo Sakuma | 11. How Nakao |
| 2. Aizo Takahashi. | 7. Shiro Kawamura | 12. Ted Nishimoto |
| 3. Kumahau Okamoto | 8. Chodo Okutake | 13. Sadae Yamane |
| 4. Richard Kondo | 9. Iwao Namekawa | 14. Harry Ikemoto |
| 5. Masao Shimada | 10. Sage Muraoka | 15. S. Saito |
| 16. Byron Akitsuki | | |

in order to present the following recommendations:

1. Insurance of security when passing through all Gates.
2. Elimination of either the pass or the badge, and the institution of either one.
3. Selection of agreeable M.P.'s as attendants at the Gates.

Block 30 Manager Kawaoka (Okamoto's block) was introduced to the group. He reported in details the progress made in the preparations for the approved center-wide funeral for James Okamoto by the Ward Chairman of Block Managers. Ward Chairmen have taken the initiative to make preparations and arrangements for the funeral. From this Ward Chairman and Block Managers, a Funeral Committee will be formed, it was informed. Upon the body's approval (Divisional Responsible Men), Mr. Kawaoka then requested for representations from the divisions to serve on his Funeral Committee. The body present decided that the Construction and Motor Pool divisions should select several persons to serve on his Committee. Other divisions will assist in any possible way, even though representation is not made. Mr. Kawaoka then announced that the wake service will be held in the High School Auditorium and the funeral at the outdoor stage.

INFORMAL MEETING OF THE REPRESENTATIVES OF THE DIVISIONAL RESPONSIBLE MEN AND THE PROJECT DIRECTOR

May 30, 1944

B. Akitsuki, on behalf of the Divisional Responsible Men, presented the recommendations of the body to the Project Director, although he had previously submitted a memorandum enumeration the various recommendations made by the group at its meeting held on May 26, 1944. As a whole, the recommendations were accepted and put into practice, such as the stationing of the Colonial Police at

THURSDAY, JUNE 15, p. 4.

the entrance of the Gate. He further stated that the body felt the pressing need for an organization represented by various divisions and sections for the purpose of maintaining future protection and security of the workers, subsequent to the recent incident in which James Okamoto was a victim.

Mr. Best expressed great distress over the incident and stated that as our respect to the man who passed away, tribute must be paid purely on a religious and personal basis in which politics should be wholly uninvolved. He further mentioned that an establishment of a temporary body composed of responsible men of various divisions and sections may tend to divide the Colony again. He felt that another trouble, presumably cause by this recent incident, will not recur; that is, he hopes it will not. If it should, it will be one in which people will be against the Administration and in such an event, the people are the only ones who are going to suffer. If in the future, at any time, any incident of any nature occurs from which trouble starts, we might just as well wash our hands and have the Army take over the camp," Mr. Best commented.

The program under way to establish a Representative Committee to disseminate information and to talk and counsel with brought no response from the Colony because there were some groups which disliked the Administration and groups which disliked the Divisional Responsible Men, the Project Director informed. As a whole, Mr. Best felt that it was inadvisable to form such a body (committee) at the present time. Mr. Black pointed out that in view of the non-acceptance of the Administration's invitation to proceed with the formation of the Representative Committee, setting up of a temporary committee, which will not be authorized by Washington, will stall off the time when we can bring about the required Representative Committee which Washington has already approved.

Upon B. Akitsuki's statement that the unification of the workers is urgent in order to prevent any trouble and to maintain order among workers, inasmuch as they are the backbone of the Colony, Mr. Best stated that there is no reason why the workers cannot organize as workers to represent their various activities and to present statements and recommendations, but as an Administration, such a body cannot be officially recognized. Recognition of such a body would tend to split and upset the Colony and the establishment of a true Representative Committee. However, if a Representative Committee selected on a geographical basis were established, various committees such as Committee on Works, Committee on School, Committee on Playground, etc. may be formed from the main Committee to surmount and cope with any difficulties which may arise in the various fields; for example, the Committee on Works might take up matters concerning the welfare and interests of the workers. In this way, partiality will be avoided and every person will have a part in this Committee.

- - - - -

According to May, the ex-members of the Coordinating Committee were pretty gripped at this report. Also conscious of criticism from the colony, they say:

Mr. Shimada, Mr. Yamatani and Mr. Akitsuki say, "No Matter how hard we work and how much we try to do for the people, we are always called in. So we might as well leave the place alone and let it burn up."

(I confess that it passes my comprehension how these men dare set

THURSDAY, June 15, p. 5.

themselves up in a place of public prominence at this time. They are just asking to get knocked on the head. They seem unable to realize the terrific depths of their unpopularity. The pro-Daihyo Sha Kai people would cheerfully murder some of them; more or less neutral residents hate them on general principles because of their previous intimate connection with the Administration. If they persist in remaining in the limelight the consequences are not going to be pleasant. R. H.)

Attempt to do away with Mr. Huckle's power over the Block Managers.

The ward chairman tried to get Mr. Huckle out. They found out that most of the peoples' complaints which were supposed to be channeled to Mr. Best were just going to Mr. Huckle who bottlenecked them. So the ward chairman thought that Community Organizations ought to be put under direct supervision of the Project Director.

So the ward chairmen got together one morning and called in Mr. Huyoke. Mr. Huckle said Mr. Province had suggested the same thing, but that Mr. Best had been against the idea because he thought it would be disadvantageous.

So the group of ward chairmen got together the next day and got an interview with Mr. Best. When they made this statement to Mr. Best, Mr. Best said that the plan of putting Community Organization under the Project Director had been devised by himself, but when he sent the plan to Washington, Washington didn't approve. ~~So now we know that Mr. Huyoke was lying.~~ Mr. Best said there seemed to be a clash of personalities and he admitted that Mr. Huckle was slow in channeling things to him but that he would do his best.

New Procedure of ~~Electing~~ Selecting Block Managers.

There was a new procedure for electing block managers came out just after the block 31 trouble. (Cf. Notes, May 15, p. 4) Formerly the Civic Organization used to do the recommending. Now the people nominate seven men and the Administration chooses the one they want. This way, Civic Organization has no way in it.

(I asked Opler about ~~this~~ this. He said he had had no word that this was to be the future method of choosing block managers. So far as he knew it had been applied ~~only~~ only in the controversial block 31 question. Three men had been nominated. Kamiya, the ex-Daihyo Sha man had received 65, votes, the next man 63. At first the Administration chose the man with 63. Then on Yamatani's instigation, they reconsidered, and were about to choose Kamiya. (32 is Yamatani's block where he is reputed never to appear in the daytime.) What actually was done, Opler does

THURSDAY, JUNE 15, p. 6.

not know.)

TALK WITH OPLER

The terminated coal crew sent a committee to see Mr. Best, trying to go over Black's head, after Black had refused to see them. Best stated that he would see only one man - alone (no witnesses). He saw him.

It was the ward chairmen who had charge of the funeral. Some men of the Divisional Responsible group were on the funeral committee. The Divisional Responsible men did discuss having such a committee, but in the end, it wasn't theirs. The Ward Chairmen were the dominant group.

Best is not going to accede to the ward chairmen's request that he take charge of Community Organizations. He's going to let Huycke keep the place.

Morimoto's Injury

As far as I've been able to find but he has a fractured skull. I heard one man asking why the Project Director didn't have a project hearing for a case like that instead of taking it out to the courts. (Sofar as Opler knows, Morimoto's assailants have not been captured.)

Spanish Consul Committee

The committee to meet the Spanish Consul has been set up from the wards. The trouble is they have set up a sub-committee and very prominent on the list are the names, Yamatani, Akitsuki and Okamoto. I don't like those guys on it. It looks as if Akitsuki is sticking out his neck again. The Spanish Consul wants to meet with a spokesmen group. Maybe he's a little afraid for his own safety.

(Opler seemed unconscious of the tremendous general resentment this "picked" committee is bound to ~~xxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxx~~ stir up among the colonists. He was very low in his mind again; and disgusted with the whole project.)

Tateishi, public inu number 1, had the nerve to put up a sign, saying "Research Dept." which is what Opler calls Community Analysis in block 7, where Opler has his office. Opler protested violently to Best, but it was some time before the sign was taken down. Poor Opler.

Friday, June 16, 1944, p. 1.

Today called on Mr. Ige, one of the Isuppe stockade internees who had just been released after some six months confinement in the Tule stockade. He has been locked up ever since his arrival in Tule on December 6, 1943. Among the Caucasians here who know of him, Ige is reputed to have a "terrible dossier," having purportedly made remarks such as, "I would like to see the whole Caucasian race wiped out."

When I called on him Ige was quiet, restrained and very courteous. I explained my task on the project and told him that ~~if~~ if he ever cared to tell me a little of his experiences in the stockade I would be grateful. However, I didn't expect him to say much to me until he had checked up on me with friends. He had probably done this already, (we both know Q, Y,) and said, that since I had taken this trouble to call he would be glad to answer any questions I asked.

"I was sent to Isuppe from Jerome. I don't know why I was sent to Isuppe, however, I had the privilege of getting information through the Commanding Officer at Isuppe. He told me that according to the record I was sent there for interfering with registration.

When I came to Tule I was put in the stockade and stayed there for approximately six months. I was rather downhearted because of the fact that I had nothing to do with the incident. I saw very little reason for being confined in the stockade with persons alleged to have had something to do with the incident.

After I was there two months I had not exactly a hearing, but the person in charge of the stockade at that time, Captain Hartman, told me my past record was so bad that I had to be kept in the stockade until the condition in camp cleared up.

Then while I was in the stockade two persons were beaten up in the stockade. I was nearby when it happened. I reiterated to the WRA Internal Security personnel that since I was a stranger there I had very little contact with the boys. Therefore ~~I was~~, while I was at the place where the beating was done, I couldn't tell the names of the persons who did the beating because I didn't know. This is my feeling. The authorities felt I was withholding the facts.

(These men beaten up were not alleged agitators but were two men accused of making sake.)

I think the general opinion of the people in the stockade was that this man was stealing goods supposed to be given to the colonists. One of them was sentenced to a period of two years in jail. (This took place in the latter part of January.)

I had another hearing just about two months before I was released.

FRIDAY, June 16, p. 2.

That was by Internal Security. Their attitude was rather one of appealing to me. They didn't ask me much. They asked me about the incident. They said ~~why/it/I~~ would I behave in camp if I was released. I said, 'Yes, I will behave.' They just asked me a few things like that.

Mr. Ige told me that he was planning to get married very soon, perhaps before the end of this month. Later I learned from Mrs. Yamashiro that he had had to put off his marriage for a long time, due to his internment.

DEMONSTRATION AT COMMENCEMENT

At the Commencement exercises for the High School graduation, Black made an address last night. He began by stating that it was customary to paint the future in rosy colors for graduating classes, but that under the present circumstances he could not feel justified in doing so. World conditions were in a pretty messy state. He went on to speak of the war and its outcome "You perhaps have your own opinions and without doubt your parents have definite convictions. But I am an American and as an American I can see the outcome of the war only as a complete military victory for the Allied cause." At this point the audience began to get restless. There was ever growing noise made by shuffling programs, moving feet and whispering. He followed this statement by saying, "This does not mean that we wish for the annihilation of the Japanese people." In order to take her place among the nations, Japan would need leadership and there never was an overabundance of leaders in any country of the world. Those of you who plan on returning to Japan during the post-war period can prepare yourself to enter the communities of your choice with the idea of becoming leaders in the preservation of the rights of individuals to participate in the forming of the laws of government." Noise continued during this speech, but Black paid no attention. "You will ask the question, however, how about us who are at Tule Center; a center that is termed a disloyal camp. What will be our opportunities if we remain here? I wish to say in this respect that despite the outcries of certain newspapers, certain interested and militant groups, there is a growing appreciation on the part of a large number of the

FRIDAY, June 16, p. ²~~2~~.

American public about the facts entering into your decision to remain at Tule Lake. An increasing number of people realize that the decision was not simply a matter of loyalty, that many other factors entered into your being in this center. Again there may be radical changes in the policy of the WRA and even the government itself in respect to the residents of Tule Lake. (This, according to my Caucasian informant, was said in a hopeful sort of way.) Even the fact that the Japanese were moved out under a military necessity is being questioned by some people."

My informant stated that from Black's initial statement that he was an American, there was a ~~constant~~ continuous heckling. There was no way of gauging the degree of response to anything that happened thereafter. The heckling came from young men in the back of the room. At the finish of Black's speech there was mixed applause and booing, applause from the parents in the middle section and booing from the young fellows in the back of the room.

This incident was related to me in the presence of three Caucasian teachers, all of whom felt that the speech had been excellent and were much offended by the rude ~~by~~ reception it received. They were unable to understand it.

SATURDAY, JUNE 17, 1944, p. 1.

Was told this morning by a Caucasian informant, ~~W/W~~ who had gone about diligently getting Caucasian reactions, that all Caucasians present had thought Black's speech excellent. Black himself is reported to have said that he had expected this reaction, but felt that it should be said nevertheless. He added, "I would have to make an honest speech on the day Tokyo was bombed."

TALK WITH ~~K0278789799~~

Curihara - (called K here)

Visited K. today to check up on relative importance of sources of irritation to the colonists.

There are continually things happening that I know about. But they are developing through the blindness of the Administration. They should be able to stop them.

On the Election of a Committee to see the Spanish Consul

Yamatani, Akitsuki and Okamoto were told right in their faces that the people didn't want them.

(I asked if it were possible that these gentlemen did not know how they were regarded by the people.)

They are conscious of what is going on but they are looking for personal glory. They may want to tell the Japanese government that they represented Tule Lake and met the Spanish Consul to right the wrongs they have already committed.

Mr. Yamatani proposed before a certain body that if they would consent to allow him to negotiate with the Spanish Consul he would do it gladly. He was told right then.

The negotiations are to be conducted by men who are already elected. They are prominent people whom the people trust.

The present beatings.

The beatings can be looked at from various angles. The Japanese have grievances against the Administration, but they know as a fact that they're helpless. Naturally, the only thing they can think of is how to get back at those who spy on them. I think these beatings will keep going on for quite a while. I think there will be at least a half a dozen more. The Administration listens to the spies and not to the others. So such things will happen.

Coal Crew Termination

I don't think that the colony itself is taking any interest in it. That is only up to the men who were working.

SATURDAY JUNE 17, p. 2.

More on Beatings

This is one point you no doubt have noticed. ^{These} ~~There/are~~ certain persons here beaten up, you'll find the majority of the people are enjoying it.

(K. is certainly correct here; I have found no one yet (except perhaps out and out anti-Daihyo Sha people) who ~~doesn't~~ doesn't take glee in the beatings.)

Hitomi (the man beaten Sunday or Monday) had a brain concussion. He may be left totally blind. His left eye will be blind, I hear. Hitomi is not to be blamed. He came back from a concentration camp just a little while ago. But his brother is ~~the~~ manager of the Co-op. And people had a grievance against the manager of the Co-op. Then this fellow who is innocent gets it.

Reaction to Black's Speech

That wasn't the place for a person to make that kind of a statement or speech. A man of his position should know. A thing like that could cause trouble. It would cause bitterness among the youngsters. They're going to take it as an insult, not to them, but to the Japanese government.

When Colonel Meek came to Moab he tried to persuade me to become an American again. I told him I wouldn't change my mind. He said, "What percentage of people is loyal to Japan?" I told him 97%. This was just before the talk about the draft. I told him, ~~you will~~ I doubt if you will have more than 2% enlist. It turned out to be $1\frac{1}{2}$ percent.

When I was in Manzanar I told the Citizens Federation 97% of the people were loyal to Japan. Perhaps 80% true to Japan and 15% doubtful right now. The Japanese American Citizens Federation had to disband. I was right.

You'll find in this camp that if you talk against Japan even the kids will get sore. When Japan was making those big advances even the seven and eight year old kids bought papers to read the headlines. Some of them are for America, but when the Japanese Army suffers a reverse, they say, "I don't believe it." The thing that changed their minds was evacuation.

HOODLUMISM AFTER HIGH SCHOOL RECEPTION

High School teacher told me this evening that several boys in everyday clothes had crashed the High School Graduates' Reception and behaved in a boisterous manner. When questioned they said they were Seniors who had gone home and changed their clothes, coming to the reception in old clothes. A High School teacher reported this to Mr. Gunderson, High School Principal, when he arrived, and he asked all uninvited persons to leave. These boys left. However it was later discovered that they had gone in the boys' latrine, taken off all the moveable fixtures, spigots, faucets, etc to.,

SATURDAY JUNE 17, p. 3.

and flushed them down the toilets. Some three inches of water had flooded the floor before this was discovered.

SUNDAY? JUNE 18, 1944, p. 1.

Sat next to Mr. Runcorn, the new Coop Head ~~W/W~~ at dinner. He poured out a tale of woe which would have made him very unpopular with Mr. Best, had he been overheard. It appears that Runcorn came here with the idea of instituting a \$40.00 per month salary for evacuees who work as domestics for the Caucasians. The Co-op Board of Directors was heartily in favor of it, and very much against the \$30.00 per month stipend which has been the rule. Black, however, absolutely refused to listen to Runcorn's arguments about "taking advantage of the people in this situation" and Runcorn took it to Best. Best backed up Black, saying among other things, "I'm not going to have anybody here siding with the people ~~33333~~ against me." Black's reasoning is: the Co-op works on an 18% margin of profit, and the \$30. allows this profit. When Runcorn states that the appointed personnel living in Klamath would pay \$80. per month for help of this kind, he curses and swears.

The Board of Directors says it will resign in a body if the \$30. per month is made permanent. The body suggested a compromise of \$35. but this was turned down by the Administration.

Runcorn thinks if the Board's stand were publicised it would help the Co-op with the people. This, I privately thought, is very ~~unlikely~~, since the extra ten dollars will go into the Co-op funds for eventual distribution through patronage refunds, and is more likely to be regarded by the people as an additional chance for the Co-op heads to make away with some money for themselves. It is interesting, though, that when Runcorn wished to put the Board's request for \$35. in the Co-op paper, Black vetoed the idea entirely and 1,500 sheets of mimeographed paper had to be thrown away.

MONDAY, JUNE 19, 1944, p. 1. Mrs. Matsuda (called Q.)

Q reported today that Best is fast losing the popularity gained at the speech he made at the funeral. HE's back to his old self. Everytime someone goes to see him, he remarks, "If you don't behave, the first thing you know the army's going to come in."

Q, as is natural in an active member of the pressure group, also stated that the people were very angry at the Administration's move to put a selected group on the committee to see the Spanish Counsel. They blame this on Black. Black is getting more and more unpopular.

Co-op Gossip

The Manzanar people wanted a Co-op of their own. They didn't want to get in with this bunch. Mr. Hitomi (Manager of Co-op) took a lot of money to the representative of the Manzanar people to bribe him to come in with the Tule Co-op. He still has that money pinned to the wall of his room.

Stockade

Now the boys in the stockade are getting mad at Mr. Tsuda. (Tsuda is former Head of Internal Security who was incarcerated because he was a block representative of the Daihyo Sha.) When Mr. Tsuda came out of the stockade they thought he would be able to do something for them. But he hasn't been able to do a thing. So they're getting mad at him now.

Coal Crew Terminated

We had to work hard to keep the coal crew boys from making trouble. We had to tell them again and again that now isn't the time.

"Research Work"

Q also informed me that Tateishi, public inu number one, is busy doing research on several people, research being what he calls investigation or spying. Unfortunately, some of my informants are on Tateishi's list. What a life.

TALK WITH MRS. Y. Amashiro (called Y here.)

Little Mrs. Y. was very worried. It seems that the rumor has been circulating that the chief evacuee witness in the Okamoto inquest, held late in May stated at this inquest that Okamoto attempted to strike the soldier. About a dozen boys came over to the house the other day to talk the matter over with George. They could not believe that a Japanese 555 would do such a thing, yet the other witnesses, who were riding the truck, imply that he did.

MONDAY, JUNE 19, p. 2.

Feeling is rising very high and there is considerable talk about "a beating in block 12" the block where this boy lives. (It may be that the records, which Best allowed the family to read, showed that this boy's testimony did not favor Okamoto. Best stated to me himself that "one of the witnesses got all mixed up and said the bullet had entered from the wrong side." Or it may be that the other witnesses are laying the blame for the inquest decision on this boy. The threatened Japanese was the man riding with Okamoto in the driver's seat and was in the best position to observe the shooting. / In any case, the matter must be pretty serious or Mrs. Y. would not speak to me about it.)

She added that sentiment in her block anent the expected visit of the Spanish Consul was pretty cynical. Everybody thought the Spanish Consul wouldn't do very much about it.

Matters in the Baseball Association are not running smoothly either. There is a serious split (the details I was not able to get) which resulted in the cancellation of the ball games yesterday. George is very busy attempting to settle this matter and I shall have to wait for details.

JUNE 20, 1944, TUESDAY, p. 1.

CALL ON THE "O"s (Conservatives)

Oda - (called "O")

" "O" had kept as ~~xxxx~~ careful a record as he could on the initial meeting of block representatives to select a committee to investigate the Okamoto shooting. He was pretty confused about it all; if he, who is well educated in English and Japanese, is confused, the people as a whole are probably utterly mixed up about it. (Some of my informants have stated that the people don't care and think that the Spanish Consul won't accomplish anything anyway.)

Meeting to select requested Investigation Committee

I attended this meeting. As you know the Japanese government has a great interest in this case. They have requested the Spanish Consul to make a detailed report and he has asked for a committee to make the detailed report to him. So, since the members of the Coordinating Committee had resigned, there were no representatives for the people. So, since nobody had responsibility, they suggested that each block send a spokesman who was a Japanese national.

Then, June 4th we had an election. Some blocks elected a man and some blocks just sent an observer to the meeting. All were Japanese nationals, mostly issei.

Then they elected officers, president, etc. This committee is just temporary and they decided to disband after the completion of the investigation. Some of the people suggested at the meeting that they might remain as permanent Japanese spokesmen for the people, but I believe in the present situation, they hesitate to elect permanent delegates.

They named eight men for the committee.

(I asked if any members of the Coordinating Committee were on it.)

There were no Coordinating Committee members on that. This committee was recognized officially by the approval of Mr. Best.

Everybody is afraid of the future and they didn't want it to be permanent.

It seems to me very few people know about the details of how this was done (Okamoto shooting). They can't get the true facts. Besides they're afraid of the stockade. It's no use to fight against the Administration. Everybody just keeps their mouth shut and quiet.

Unrest over Shooting

There was unrest, particularly among the young boys. They were quite excited. But there was nothing they could do. If they start trouble, something will happen. I know lots of people had good experience in the last incident. They don't want anymore trouble. If they start

JUNE 20, p. 2.

trouble, the same thing will happen.

And besides that, the investigating committee has been established and ~~the~~ the people also believe WRA and the army are taking care of it. The committee just started their investigation last week.

On the "Morning Exercises" which caused trouble in block 54

We used to have morning exercises too. But they stopped it. I believe Manzanar is still having them. They are not militaristic exercises. I think the wardens are just afraid of public gatherings. There were one or two teachers arrested while they were having the exercises in school. I think that's why they have been stopped here (in block 54). The block people didn't want any more victims.

The issei (like the wardens of block 54) are really hard minded. They're stubborn. It's hard for the old folks and the young folks to get along.

Continuing importance of stockade issue

Unless they release the men from the stockade I don't think there is any hope to organize any Central Committee. Everyone feels that way about the committee. They feel the time has not come. They would really like to have one good committee because in a time like this there is no spokesman.

Giri

That is simply obligations. Suppose those former Negotiating Committee in the stockade. Suppose right now we elect another representative from each block and organize a central committee. In that case we double cross them (the men in the stockade.) We admit that they had criminal intention. That means giri. That's why, for the benefit of them we cannot do it right now, unless the WRA releases these men. That is the Japanese point of view right now.

I wish the WRA would release those men. When they tried to organize the committee (in May) everything happened that way, because of giri.

More on Exercises

Mrs. "Q" : It was the little children who just loved they exercises. They had a lot of fun getting up in the morning. He (her husband) was too lazy to get up. For the children it was tanoshimi (a treat).

Mr. Best's Speech at the Funeral

He was thinking of the future of the center, particularly of the safety and security. I said to myself, "He's quite a diplomat." He made a very intelligent speech. If he had made the wrong kind of speech, it would have meant more trouble. He chose his words very carefully.

OPLER'S CONFERENCE IN WASHINGTON

Met Mrs. Opler this afternoon. She told me that the Community Analysts' Conference in Washington had been cancelled, after Opler was on his way. They had tried to reach him by telegram, but due to irregularity of train

JUNE 20, p. 3.

schedules, had failed. Since he was by then on his way to Chicago, Best or Black wired Washington to keep him there for a month (the conference has been postponed two weeks). This is not so good. While Opler does not get everything, the Administration needs him now as an ear, more than it has needed him for the past six months. This is, perhaps, additional evidence, of Best's unenthusiastic opinion of Opler's work.

MEETING OF COMMUNITY ~~XXXXXX~~ MANAGEMENT SECTION

Since Mr. Eade of Washington was to speak at this meeting, a couple of teachers asked me to attend. What with the dull evenings around here, I consented, although later, when very touchy questions were brought up by some of the teachers, I regretted being present when Black had to answer them. Very probably I'm getting too jittery.

The meeting was opened with the announcement that Huyoko (probably the man most despised by the Japanese) had been raised to a P4 rating.

Mr. Bagley, ~~of~~ Head of Social Welfare then gave a short address, in which he stated that his department handled 3,000 to 2,200 cases per month. One possible method of reducing the case load was to make adjustments in employment, take jobs from single people, or couples, and give them to the heads of families of four. It costs less to have a single person on welfare than a family of four.

In other centers, said Mr. Bagley, the families were allowed to retain \$500. and still become welfare cases, it being assumed that the \$500. would be used for relocation. This was not allowed at Tule Lake. Moreover, this was the only center where there were more people who wanted work, than jobs to give them. He also mentioned that the people who do work, do not get their checks or clothing allowance until from 30 to 60 days after starting work. This is something on which the department is working now. They are also working very hard on the problem of stimulating relocation. They started out with a study of 50 families who were not supposed to have applied for repatriation, but found that 43 of

JUNE 20, p. 4.

these families had applied. None of them were open to persuasion at all. Now they are starting on a new batch of 200 families. Bagley was optimistic over the fact that the evacuee workers in the Welfare Department were becoming more friendly, and hoped that better contact between evacuees and appointed personnel would eventually stimulate relocation.

Black then opened the floor for questions:

A teacher asked if any positions were not filled. Black explained that there was a dearth of all clerical workers. Moreover it had been impossible to get nursery school teachers, although there were many girls in the center capable of doing the work. If an applicant is offered a job, and refuses, he then cannot apply for welfare. Most of the unemployed people, said Black, were in the unskilled labor groups.

An Internal Security man asked Bagley about four men in the stockade who had broken their glasses. Bagley said replacement of glasses was very difficult, but he thought it could be managed somehow. Someone in the group remarked that he thought that with the limited view in the stockade, the people there had seen just about all they could see, and didn't need glasses (humor). Black added a remark in a similar vein, but stated that people couldn't get glasses unless they could prove that ~~by~~ not having them was detrimental to health.

Black then stated that 12 (?) of the aliens in the stockade were soon to be removed to Santa Fe, where, in course of time, they might go to Crystal City and join their families. This would be very nice from their point of view, because in Crystal City a normal family life can be lived and moreover, chances of repatriation from an internment camp would appear better than from Tule Lake.

A teacher then asked just how people were put in the stockade and how they were released. Black stated that an evacuee could be placed in the stockade on the judgement of Mr. Best. He had full power to put them in there and keep them there as long as he considered their presence

JUNE 20, p. 5.

dangerous or detrimental to the peace of the colony. A teacher asked what sort of trial was given them. ~~XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX~~ Black replied that their records were examined by a committee consisting of the Project Attorney, the Head of Community Management and the Head of Police, who then recommended keeping them there or releasing them. However, Mr. Best must give approval for all releases. "What do they do in there?" asked a teacher. Black replied that they have a pretty happy life, playing baseball and basketball, and waving to their friends and relatives in the center. "What do they read?" asked another teacher. "One is reading a book now called 'The expectant mother', answered a policeman. (Laughter) Black then announced that a new stockade, out near the front of the camp had already been started, and that this would include a jail capable of holding 12 persons. This, he said, should have a strong deterrent effect on troublemakers.

Mr. Eade then made a short address, but said nothing particularly significant.

RUMOR OF NEW EXCHANGE SHIP

For the past few weeks I have been constantly asked about the possibility of another exchange ship by Japanese. One of the Appointed Personnel told me the other day that the Examiner had maintained a statement which said that Japan was making out another list for repatriation, "asking for college graduates and persons who owned property in Japan."

June 21, 1944, Wednesday, P. 1.

Called on Mrs. Fukumoto, ^{from Gila} wife of the man very influential in the Seinin Dan here, and had a most interesting conversation. Mrs. Fukumoto is probably nisei, around forty years old, and speaks English quite well. During our little gab fest we touched on most of the current camp issues.

Mrs. F. opened the conversation by bringing up the subject of the beatings and the disorder. Mrs. F. does not approve of these beatings and wished that "the Japanese people could get along peacefully together." "~~XXXX~~ But people talk, and say they are inus," she added. "The Hitomi beating was a mistake. They mistook the man for his brother. People say that the Co-op men are making big moneys for themselves. They say that whenever a Co-op man leaves here (relocates) he takes a big pile of money away with him. If the Coop would make a statement every month, showing where the money goes, maybe the people wouldn't feel so bad."

Mrs. F. had no criticism of the committee to meet the Spanish Consul. They had been elected, and so that was all right. She did add, however, that ~~many~~ the men elected, had taken on the job unwillingly and that some of them wanted to resign now. It was all because of the men in the stockade. The camp will never be at peace until that is settled. If the men in the stockade were let out there wouldn't be so much trouble. Even now, some people are going around leaving notes at doors, saying, 'We want the people out of the stockade.'

On the subject of discords, I brought up the baseball split I had heard about. Mrs. F. then frankly told me what she thought about Yamashiro. "He has a big head. The people don't like him. He's always taking the credit for what other people really do. He was the same in Gila, always going to the Administration building and telling them, 'I have 2,000 people behind me.' That made the Administration mad. It made the Japanese mad too. George should learn to keep his head low. That is how a Japanese should act. At the last big Seinin Dan exhibition, some of the boys

JUNE 21, p. 2.

worked so hard they got sick. Some of them even slept in the hall to see that nothing was stolen and ate their meals in shifts. George didn't do a thing but took all the credit."

Matters could never go well, however, as long as Mr. Best remained head of the camp. The people didn't trust him. Besides he was afraid. If only Mr. Robertson could be the Project Director.

How nice it would be if the people could go out to the hill now and then and have a picnic. It would make everybody feel so good. Maybe they wouldn't be so narrow minded then. Everybody in camp was getting narrower and narrower minded.

While discussing Black's speech which Mrs. F. had not heard we got to the subject of the war. Mrs. F. Had read that the Jews started the war. The Jews wanted to rule the world. "In the Philippines," said Mrs. F. she heard that the Japanese government was educating the Filipinos. "Some are being sent to school in Tokyo." "Naturally," said she, "I believe that Japan and Germany are going to win the war."

ENCOUNTER WITH MARKLEY

While attempting to arrange for a ride into Klamath Falls, I encountered Markley, the Report's Officer. He asked me where I had been keeping myself. Then he asked me what I thought the result ~~would be~~ of increasing Allied victories would be on those persons who were on the fence, about relocation. I said, I would hesitate to predict. He explained that he wanted to know because quite a large number of the young people on his staff had resigned recently, and he wondered if this were due to parental pressure and concern over having the young people too closely connected with members of the Administrative Staff. I was non-committal, thinking to myself, that perhaps Tateishi's close connection with Markley, had more to do with it. (T. is a super-inu, according to colony rumor.) Markley also said that he thought there would be a considerable boost to relocation if the Allied victories continued. He had advised Washington to consider some means of segregation, for these relocatees, several weeks ago.

JUNE 23, 1944, FRIDAY, p. 1.

Having heard last night from Caucasian informant that an extremely brutal beating had taken place, I asked several evacuees about it today. The first informant, a nisei girl assured me it was not another inu beating. An issei had lost his mind and attacked two other men with a hammer. One of the men was near death. The man must have been crazy, said the girl, or he would nothave gone to the hospital and told them what he had done.

TALK WITH YAMASHIRO

Yamashiro said the most recent beating was over money ~~xxxxxxxxxxxxxxxx~~ ~~xxxxxxxx~~ or something like that, andnot because of "inuism." He added that he had gone to see Mr. Best today, and that Best was in the best of humors. His eyes were twinkling. He still kept a sawed off length of pipe in the corner of his office, however.

SPANish Consul Committee:

Nobody was taking the Spanish Consul Committee very seriously, said George. In fact, nobody trusted the Spanish Consul any~~more~~ even though he was ~~xxxxxxxxxxxxxxxx~~ supposed to look after the Japanese. The Okamoto case, everybody was convinced was now a washout. Since everybody was saying that the chief Japanese witness had said that Okamoto tried to attack the soldier, there was no chance for a verdict of guilty. After all, if ~~XXXXXX~~ Okamoto did attack the sentry, the sentry had a right to shoot him.

Proposal for eight ward Police Commissioners

This proposal, thought George, might go much better than the one to select a Representative Body.

It may have a 50-50 chance. You see the Internal Security is very bad. Somebody might think, "We're going to change this system." So the election might go better.

Boys write to Iokes about Best

A boy told George that he and a number of others had written to Secretary Iokes and told him that he should fire Best. This boy said he himself had signed his name to the letter. (George did not know how many young men were involved in this.)

June 23, p. 2.

Next Exchange Ship

I think the next transport might come the end of this year or the beginning of next. That would make the people feel better.

Mrs. Y: "I bet the camp is going to be in an uproar if it does come."

George: "It has to come, otherwise the morale is going down. The Japanese government must realize that."

Possible Result if Allied Victories Continue

I think more people will ask for relocation, especially the nisei. But the majority of the residents won't give up. I think there are a lot of people, even if we lose Kyushu, Manila and Singapore -- we won't give up. The bombings don't mean nothing. But there will be a lot of people who'll say, "Well, the Allies are winning, let's go out."

Black's Speech

I hear a lot of people saying, "Well, he's a Caucasian. That's what you should expect him to say."

Discussion on War

George doubts that Germany will lose the war. But even if it does, Japan is going to keep on fighting. They won't give up. They have prepared for a hundred years war.

ANOTHER CAUCASIAN VARIANT OF BEATING STORY

One of the older school teachers said tonight that the man who had made the hammer assault had just been released from the stockade. He had beaten up the other two men for revenge. One of the men assaulted is near death.

MR. BODINE'S QUESTIONNAIRE

At the time of his visit to Tule Lake, Mr. Bodine of the ~~the~~ Student Relocation Council, gave a questionnaire to highschool students, (probably Seniors, and perhaps Juniors) ~~which~~ the answers of which were given to me. I have 28 answer sheets. Five questions were asked. The questionnaire was taken on March 30, 1944

The first question was, ~~"Do you intend to go to Japan?"~~ "Is your family planning to go to Japan?" "When?"

Answers: "Yes as soon as possible." - 18
"Yes," -- 2

June 23, p. 3.

"Yes, after the war." -- 6
"We don't know yet" -- 1
No answer -- 1

2nd question: Do you want to live in Japan?

Answers: It doesn't matter -- 1
I don't know -- 2
No -- 4/7

Reasons: I want to go to it's conquered territory.
Not enough Japanese language/
Not for too long. Just as a visit because it is too uncomfortable.

Yes . -- 18

Reasons: Because I'll be treated more like a human being instead of always being descriminated like a dog. (dog scratched out).

Because we were descriminated too much and even though Nisei were graduated Engeneer's school they didn't get much change to get good opportunities.

Because we have a home there. Not that I don't like the U. S.

Because I have my relations to live with in Japan.

Afraid ~~of~~ of racial descrimination after the War too if we stay in U. S.

Because I think I'll be with my group.

Because I'm naturally that way. Love new sceneries to move around, See the world.

Opportunity.

I want to be with my people where I can be treated like a human being. (Poor Negro).

nAll our property, etc. are in Japan. The land of superior race which the people are not being pushed around by other county people.

no racial descrimination at least
~~It is hard for me to get along with the CAUCASIAN after the war, if they understand our situation, I like to stay.~~

Because I have been discriminated. I have tried my best to be like the rest of Americans, but wouldn't accept me as such.

Because I was brought up in Japan until I was 17 year old, therefore I have better understanding of Japan than U. S.

For the years of education.

Because I found out what democracy really means. I think people who have the blood of a Japanese will never be able to live and be treated just like any other citizens of U. S. (especially in cases of emergency) Yes, a racial discrimination.

June 23, p. 3A

My father dies just before the war and evacuation and I feel that I would have more security amongst relatives near the homes of my mother and father. It would be hard for a woman with little children to go out and try to make a living at present. My mother's ~~w~~ wish is to go to Japan and I'm with her for always.

June 23, p. 4.

I will like to have some education in Japanese and learn more of the Japanese life.

Question 3: Would you care to stay in the United States? (question implied from answers.

Answers: Yes - 7

Reasons or Conditions:

It depends a great deal how the nisei problem is going to turn out from now till the end of the war.

The field I'm taking cannot be completed in Japan, I want to stay in U.S. and complete my education before thinking of going anywhere.

If there is no racial discrimination.

I was born and reared under American customs - there's no place like home. In school I was taught to believe in Democratic principles of life. I don't know how to live in any other country and do not wish to do so. But don't you think we owe our folks something as far as their opinions are concerned.

I was brought up here and I have learned to love it here.

But it's hard for me to get along with the Caucasian after the war, if they understand our situation I like to stay.

Yes and No - 1

Reason: Depression after war. To finish my education and to convince the Caucasian that Japanese are human as well as they.

NO - 20.

Reasons: Because there will still be race prejudice toward us also a depression.

West pushed around too much like dogs.

We Japanese get kick around too much. No lie.

Because there is too much racial discrimination. After this war it will be worse. Democracy is very good idea but not for the colored race. In Japan I think I would be more help toward society than in the U. S.

Because if I am going to Japan what good will it do to be here. But would like to come here on conditions.

Hell No. Always getting called a dirty Jap and yellow bellies. Who in the hell wants to get called that, et?

We lost what we owned. Not that many others haven't, but it's just that we have nothing left here.

Because every place we go we will be kicked around.

I really should Yes to this question because I want education and learn most of culture here; but when a country would not hold its constitution, well, I guess you know why I answered No.

June 23, p. 5.

We have yellow skin.

Out here in United States we are treated like Japs. Even if we have citizenship. Once a Jap always a Jap.

I have no property, friends, etc., in America. No future in America.

Because I want to readjust myself. I know that my feature will never change, prejudice against Japanese will always exist, so therefore I would like to go back to my parents country.

Because I don't feel like staying, that's all. I have more things to say but waste.

Not the way we been kicked around.

QUESTION 4 . (Implied from answers) Do you plan to go to some country other than Japan?

ANSWERS:

No -- 1

Not answered -- 13

Other comments:

Yes, we may have more opportunities elsewhere than in Japanese program.

Even if we are of Japanese blood, when we do go back will they treat us like one of them or will we be treated as we were in this country. One is just as bad as the other. Our life is very insecure.

If the living here is an impossible for us, I would prefer to go to some foreign country.

It does not matter as to where a nisei will live. Where they (Nisei) go Japan or United States, they will be discriminated. Nisei's will be discriminated in Japan as well as U. S. Maybe more so.

I will like to go to Japan but I will like to come back to United States.

Yes, go to the new frontiers opened by the Japanese government.

Go to some other islands in the Pacific and conduct a business making use of the languages I know (Spanish, English, Japanese).

I like to go to some isolated island and live a new life.

Yes, go to all the little countries and have a big business where there's no more democracy not dictatorship.

Live some other island near Japan and begin farming.

Go to the South Pacific.

Planning to go to the Far East lands, as Phillipin Is. and that's why I think English education will come in use.

Yes, I want to go to ~~xxxxxx~~ some islands in the Pacific and start all over.

Yes, It's a secret.

June 23, p. 6.

QUESTION 5: Have you ever been to Japan?

ANSWERS: (Not answered) -- 2.

No --- 18 (Comment, but I wan't to go.)

Yes -- ~~10~~ 8

Length of stay - years unknown

6 month when I was small

5 months

Just for a summer vacation - 1938 - June to August.

13 years.

1 year.

2 months.

2 years, just visited.

JUNE 24, SATURDAY, 1944, p. 1. *Takenchi - (called T)*

Called on "T" today but he was still sleeping off the effects of a poker bout last night so gossiped with his wife instead. The beating in block 33 was naturally the chief topic of conversation.

Block 33 beating

I heard this man (the attackers name was Okamoto) went to this bachelor's place and cut him up with a hatchet. Nobody knew what the reason was. They say the man who did the attacking was quiet and nice. After that he went to a married couples place. He knocked on the door and the wife answered. He flung her aside and attacked the man. Then he went to the warden's office and reported. Suzuki and Tanabe were the men attacked, I heard.

I also heard that the man in block 35 who was attacked (Hitomi) can't see. He was attacked after an Engei Kai meeting. He just came out of the Santa Fe Internment camp and as soon as he got into camp he was employed as manager at the Sewing Factory. His brother is manager of the Co-op.

. I think everybody is nervous in here. This place gives me the willies.

CALL ON Q *Mrs. Matsuda (called Q)*

Q1 gave me additional information on Tsuda's growing unpopularity. (Tsuda is ~~former~~ pre-incident head of Internal Security, was a Daihyo Sha member, was placed in the stockade and released sometime in May. Tsuda went into the stockade and tried to persuade the boys who had written to the Civil Liberties Union to withdraw their complaints. One boy followed his advice and wrote to his family to do so. However, ~~Mr. Tsuda's~~ *Mrs. Matsuda's* brother refused and wrote to ~~her~~ *her* about it, which put Tsuda in a bad spot. He is rapidly now becoming regarded as a stooge of Mr. Best.

On the beating, I was told that the attacker had roomed with the man he attacked for a long time. They had both come from Rower and were good friends there. The attacker had been put in the stockade but ~~had~~ *Mrs. Matsuda* had been released a long time ago. ~~Q~~ *Q* told me that whenever people are interrogated by Internal Security on the two recent inu beatings they are always asked about her. *Mr. Matsuda* ~~Q~~ said this was funny. "What can she do?" asked he.

The "Research Committee" is still making itself very annoying. I asked for additional information on its origin and was told that it had been started as an adjunct to the Coordinating Committee sometime in March. (I think it may be even earlier than that.) *Mr. Matsuda* ~~Q~~ asked me if I had heard of the attempt to revive the Coordinating Committee (the proposed Labor Organization). I said I had.

June 24, 1944, p. 2

Proposed ward Police Commissioners

On this matter both ^{Mr. and Mrs. Matzuda} ~~Q1 and Q2~~ expressed themselves as hoping that the issue would be a bigger flop than the proposed Colony Representative nominations.

- - - - -

EXERPT FROM NEWELL STAR, June 22, 1944

The following Administrative action, if seriously applied may cause some resentment: However, since it may be interpreted as an effort to give more jobs to larger families, it may not receive wide disapproval.

Terminations to begin July 1 for Working Couples

Reduction of employment in families of two where both had been working, is going ahead in good shape, according to a statement from Personnel Officer Frank D. Fagan.

Voluntary terminations in families of two where both are working will continue until July 1. After that date, the Personnel Officer will request division and section heads to make the necessary terminations. However, at the rate the voluntary terminations have been progressing it is expected that there will be very few left on the employment rolls where action by the division and section heads will become necessary.

(In his speech before the Community Management Division, Blacks stated that in cases, where both workers are definitely needed by the WRA, they may continue working with a kind of special dispensation. They will be deemed necessary to the Administration.)

SUNDAY, JUNE 25, 1944, p. 1.

CALL AT "I'S" *Takenuchi (collected I)*

Attitude of people in Tule Lake - the Co-op

I'm getting sick of the attitude of the people. They are always cutting each others throats. Take the "well organized Co-op" for instance. Heretofore there has been a rumor that quite a few of the boys high up in the Co-op very nicely relocated with a big wad of dough. That's a very nice thing to do to the poor Japs in here.

They claim it is the policy of all good Co-ops only to pay off when their working capital is tripled - then the dividend can be paid. But inasmuch as the people are stuck here for the duration, I don't think that's necessary. Instead of paying off, what do they do? Build a new soda water factory and other things, and you can't tell me they're going to be able to pay that off in one summer.

The Co-op also has from 150 to 200 cases of Troco Margarine. I'd like to know where they got it because that stuff is on the point list. (I heard another accusation of the Co-op getting produce on the black market yesterday, this time the items were hot plates.)

I's Nakao Takenuchi
Sister-~~in-law~~: I was in the Co-op yesterday when Akitsuki came in. You know, we all turned the back to him. Every one of us. You could see how it was - public inu number 1.

"I": Yamatani (ex-Coordinating Committee member) tried to gyp us out of about 100 cakes of tofu the other day. The tofu is sent to the messes in tubs of about 50 cakes each. Each mess called up and complained that they were from 5 to ten cakes short. I went to see Yamatani about it. He said, "Of course, it's possible that the fellows in the mess took them home with them." He finally promised that the Co-op would make the loss good.

Job for Best's Son

Did you know that in order to create a job for Best's son, (as messenger) they fired four or five of the Japanese messengers?

"I'S" current disgust with camp.

When I came here I expected to find quite a different atmosphere. When the people realized they were here for the same reason, I expected that they would be willing to help a guy when he needed it. Instead, now if you've got five dollars they'll think of how they can get it away from you.

Some of the smartest people I know are getting disgusted. These are real intelligent people. They came here and expected to find a cooperative atmosphere and they're pretty well disgusted. Their remarks add up to something like this: "It's not a case now of whether I want to go back to the old country. It's a case of whether I can stay here long enough to go back to the old country and still retain my self-respect."

The trouble is they expect you to act like a damn radiac and go out and kill every hañujin on the other side of the fence and when you don't act like that you are an inu.

JUNE 25, 1944, p. 2.

"I" Considering Relocation

The only reason I'd consider relocation is that I've got a pretty good thing coming up. As you should know by this time, the majority of nisei came in here because they didn't want to go into the Army. That's one of the main reasons why the nisei are here, 98% of them, myself included. I couldn't see fit to pack a gun for something I didn't see my way clear to. If they had treated us differently, I would have volunteered. Now, seeing as how they're deferring people over 26, I think I might take a chance.

You see, if the war lasts three more years, I'll be 33. Then I get deported to Japan. It'll take me ten years to get on my feet. It seems to me Germany is going to pull a flopperoo. I wouldn't want to be here when that happens. I don't care if Japan has 17 kinds of Yamato Damashi, she isn't going to be able to buck fighting three big nations.

("I" now confessed that he had been offered a pretty good job in the Washinton office by Hayward. He figured that if he took this, even if he were drafted, the war would probably be over before he got sent overseas.)

Power of colonists' belief in Japanese victory

Believe it or not a fellow told me the other day that Japan was going to have a decisive victory and that ~~XXXX~~ the war would be over in seven days. A girl told me the other day, "You're so thoroughly Americanized, I don't believe you belong here."

"I"'s self analysis

My coming here was in itself a defense mechanism. It was another retaliatory action to get even with the way I'd been treated previously. On the other hand, I feel that in retaliating I not only hurt the government, but eventually I'll hurt myself more.

The only people Japan actually wants are those she can use immediately after the war, diplomats and persons with Engineering degrees. I've been telling people, if Japan should lose the war, which there's a very good chance of her doing right now, and if we were to relocate and were placed on the same standard of living as the negro in this country, we'd still be able to have a better standard of living than as poor people in Japan. Besides, when the Japanese went to the south, they were never treated as the negroes were.

Demoralization of old men

A lot of the old men are getting goofier and goofier. They stand around in the latrines and mutter to themselves. I think they're losing their minds.

A Japanese Victory in the Pacific

I'd hate to see it happen. In spite of the fact that the Internal Security is on the lookout for short wave receivers, if the local broadcasts were to confirm the victory and the short wave broadcasts were to exaggerate it, I don't think there'd be no holding the pressure gang in here.

A Pronounced Allied Victory

I've often wondered. If there were a very decisive victory, I think there'd be a great breakdown in morale. Especially among certain people who

JUNE 25, p. 3.

have decided that Japan couldn't lose. With the breakdown in morale there would come a time when some of them would try in some way to avenge the defeat of Japan. When that happens, they'd better start building more fences.

New Police Commission

I don't know. I don't think it's going to be such a hot idea. The people aren't going to like it, I think. It's giving the people the impression that they're putting them under additional surveillance.

Co-op

It wouldn't surprise me a bit if Mr. Best wasn't getting a little from the Co-op. Inasmuch as there have been three dividends passed up for lack of funds. That starts to smell. ,

Appointed Personnel Misdeeds

Pvt. Sherwood is the vet here. He and the storekeeper for the butcher shop (Caucasian) got to feeling good one night. The private had a WRA car and WRA gas, which he was to turn in at six o'clock in the evening. But they decided to take a trip to Alturas. They got bottles, picked up some minor girls, all partook of the bottle, the little girl wanted to drive, 45, 50, 55 - CRASH - no car. The WRA was able to hush hush the local papers but it got into the Eastern papers and got to the ears of Dillon S. Myer. Myer, not being connected with the Army, couldn't do anything to the Soldier, but the other guy got his throat out from ear to ear (figuratively speaking). His name was George McKee.

About Muir, head of Procurement - it seems he and Mr. Hayward applied for gas rationing coupons at the same time. Hayward asked for 400 miles a month. Muir, thinking he's a pretty big shot, asked for 800 miles. Hayward got his gas, but they put a spotter on Muir to see why he needed so much gas. The followed Mrs. Muir out to Tule and Klamath, where she like to go to get her hair fixed. So they said, "Sorry, no gas." Now he's got to appeal to Sacramento. And he's the guy who screamed like hell when mess operations went over the budget a couple of thousand dollars.

UNVERIFIED GOSSIP ABOUT BENNETT

Heard from a visitor from Gila, known for the unreliability of her statements, that Bennett has been fired. I inquired as to the reason, and was told that he had been investigated by the F.B.I. for serving at parties liquor confiscated from evacuees. According to the story, the F.B.I. investigator made up to Miss Ost, Bennett's private secretary who took him to Bennett's apartment in B.'s absence and all the bottles came to light. Will check this with Mrs. Brown to get the real story which is probably very different. Heard also that a great number of teachers at Gila resigned at the end of this term and Sawyer is frantically trying to recruit more. He made a special trip to Jerome, to try to convince Jerome teachers to come to Gila.

MONDAY, June 26, 1944, p. 1.

CO-OP At a discussion last night between two teachers and two statistic workers, was told of how the teacher in charge of young evacuee teachers had instituted a discussion on the Co-op. The young people had immediately begun to criticize. The teacher, Miss Hobby, had then suggested that the teachers get their complaints in order and invite Mr. Runcorn, the new Co-op head, to speak to them and answer these complaints. After some consultation the ~~the~~ evacuee teachers, ~~and~~ absolutely refused to do this. Miss Hobby pointed out that it was their duty as "leaders of the community" to take this action, but the young people remained unmoved. "We start that," said one of them, "and it'll be two-by-fours for us."

KURIHARA *called "K"*

Police
Commissioners

Dropped in on Kurihara really to pump him on reactions to the Allied Victories in the Pacific, but started the conversation by asking about the proposed election of Ward Police Commissioners tomorrow. He said he had not even heard of this. But he was of the opinion that it would be a resounding failure. Nobody with any self respect would take the position because they would invariably be labelled as inu.

Results of Allied Victories in the Pacific

These persons who will change their minds now are no good to either country. These boys who fluctuate are no good. You'll find there are many of that kind. You know only half of the people here are registered to go to Japan. They just want to wait and see how it turns out. If Japan wins they want to go to Japan and if the United States wins they want to stay here. It's disgraceful. It makes me ashamed of the Japanese race, especially the issei.

But if ~~xxx~~ America didn't evacuate the second generation, then probably most of them would have sworn to support the United States, and would have fought in this war. Now they're willing to go out whether they're despised or not.

I've talked to many of them. They say, "I'm going back to Japan." Then I ask, "Then why aren't you studying?" They're not studying. They're just fooling around and gambling and having a good time.

Kurihara Criticises Japan

Kurihara said he had just had an argument with Mr. Tokunaga on Japan. He had criticised some of Japan's policies and said there were things in

June 26, p. 2.

Japan which could be improved.

If I go to Japan and speak as I've spoken today I'll be thrown in jail. There is no question of that. I think the country should be improved in several ways. But if I weren't in love with Japan I wouldn't criticise her. Yet, if I did talk like I talked today, I should be thrown in jail.

Kurihara added that that was the one thing he was afraid of. Since childhood he has always been honest and he fears he will be too frank and outspoken when he arrives in Japan.

All of this meditation on behavior in Japan caused me to suspect that (1) K. has a pretty good hunch that he's going on the next exchange ship. Naturally, as an expert navigator he will be useful. (2) He has been influenced by the very current rumor that the next exchange ship will leave before the end of this year ^{hopes} and that he'll be on it. This suspicion was confirmed when he asked me if the study would be so kind as to take care of an album which he has collected during the years, containing poems and photographs. I said that I thought this would be possible and he was very grateful.

K.'s Agitator

Kurihara
K. remarked that the plotting agitator *Wakayama* on whom he has had his eye for some time is still making trouble. It looks as if K. will have to beat him up. K. cannot understand where the Administration has their eyes, not to be conscious of this man. Naturally, I did not press K. for details, but did find out (1) that this agitator came after the incident and was not connected with the Daihyo Sha; (2) that he doesn't try to agitate for Japan, but ~~xxxxxxx~~ would agitate wherever he was. (3) that he has no conscience about making trouble no matter how hard it may go with the people. I guess, therefore, that K's enemy may be one of the Manzanar arrivals whom he knew of old.

Details of Block 54 beating and Morimoto as heard by K.

Morimoto had either a son or daughter attending the school in block 54 (Japanese school). This son or daughter was very unbearing. The teacher had reminded the student several times to behave, but he wouldn't listen and so he was expelled.

June 26, p. 3.

Then Morimoto wanted to send his children to school in the next ~~ward~~ ward. But the teacher there had found out about the children and refused. So in order to get back against the clock Morimoto commenced to point out people who should be sent to the stockade.

(I asked if the twelve persons from 54 who had been interned, were denounced by M. K. said they were.)

So he was more disliked than ever. Finally it culminated in a beating. He tried to scare the people by telling them that he was going to send whoever wasn't behaving right to the stockade. He asked for it and he got it.

Sentiment on Camp Unity.

If the agitators and the spies get out of here we'll be united. But it wouldn't matter if we didn't have unity, so long as we have peace.

TUESDAY, JUNE 27, 1944, p. 1.

Heard this morning from Caucasian informant that 19 issei are scheduled to leave for ~~XXXXXX~~ Santa Fe from the stockade tomorrow morning.

TALK WITH G. Tokunaga - (called G here)

Paid a visit today to issei friend of Kurihara's, "G." He is the same man who wrote the defense of the nisei, which I sent in about two weeks ago. We had a long and enjoyable conversation and when I left he asked me to come and discuss any camp matter with him whenever I chose. He also would like to prepare a paper on "Issei Feelings Toward Japan in the War," which I encouraged. He is an honest, kindly, but somewhat naive individual; however, he is not lacking in personal courage or he would not have sent the following communication to Mr. Best which was passed on to Dillon Myer. (G. gave me a copy.)

Subject: A collection of impressions at Tule Lake Center.
Give us segregees a fair treatment.

Our First Impression:

Before we segregees left Manzanar, we had been told by the WRA officials there that we would be treated fairly at Tule Lake Segregation Camp according to the international agreements. When we arrived here at the end of February, 1944, however, we found everything contrary to our expectation.

The very first impression we received after our arrival here, was that we were being looked upon as traitors or criminals to be deported. The food was so abominable and scanty, and every one was losing weight (though it has improved recently). (Note: Mr. G arrived in Tule in the middle of February, when the food had already improved a great deal.) Clothing allowances and financial aids were given us grudgingly after a long delay. When clothing allowance and financial aid were given us, the officials seemed as though they were always looking for some excuses not to give us what we believe we were entitled to. When we made protests against what appeared to be unfair, we were often told, "This is a segregation camp and is different from other centers."

Americans in Japan Treated Fairly:

According to the testimonies at Manzanar by the three Americans at three different occasions who returned from Japan on the exchange boat, they were given about the same kind or a little better food in the camp than they used to have outside before the war in Japan, and they never have been pushed around.

JUNE 27, p. 2.

Give All of Us Jobs:

Work is absolutely necessary for anyone for both financial reasons and particularly health reasons. American war prisoners in Japan, according to a news reporter, are made to work for a few hours every day for their health and they are paid for it.

There are approximately ten thousand employable persons in this camp, I am informed, and only about five thousand of them are employed at present. I request Administration Officials to increase jobs as soon as possible to employ all the persons who are willing to work. If, however, it is impossible to create jobs soon enough, then let ten thousand people work half a day every day or five thousand people work every other week, excepting the cooks in the mess halls and job supervisors. This is the most important problem to be taken up immediately and solved satisfactorily for the maintenance of the welfare of the camp residents.

Why Does the Project Director Hide Himself?

Needless to say, when one meets a stranger and keeps an intimate contact with him, he cannot only avoid misunderstanding between them, but also create a friendly feeling even when unhappy things happen.

How can one expect to be advised correctly of the camp situation by depending entirely on his subordinate for information when the Director makes an important decision on a camp problem. The necessity of the Director's making direct contact with the residents was fully proven at the time of the Okamoto incident a few weeks ago. When the news of the Okamoto incident spread all over the camp, the tension of the people was so high that anything might have happened at any moment. But when the Director made a sympathetic announcement regarding the incident, the tension was much eased and when he made a sincere speech expressing deep sorrow over the incident at the funeral service, the tension of the people was still more eased, and saved the camp from another fearful commotion.

I have often heard block managers complaining, "We have no way to present to the Director our suggestions and requests; they are always either crushed in the hands of his subordinates or pigeon-holed on the way to him."

My advice to the Director is to show himself up himself at the block managers meeting at least once every week and keep direct contact with the representatives of all the residents and exchange views with them. This is the only way to avoid misunderstanding, create friendly feeling, and save the camp from any further trouble.

Abolish Sales Taxes in the Camp:

I can not see fairness in collecting State Sales Taxes from the camp residents who are deprived of normal livelihood and confined in this camp guarded by the U. S. Army. Are Americans in concentration camps in Japan paying taxes over there? I can not even imagine such absurdity being practiced over there. Collection of Sales Taxes in the camp should be abolished at once, and the taxes already paid should be refunded to the residents, the payees.

JUNE 27, p. 3.

Open the Hospital to Visitors:

When one becomes ill in this camp and is sent to the hospital, wife, husband or children are allowed to visit the patient only one a week on Sunday for about ten minutes, and are absolutely not allowed any other time during the week to visit anyone. We can not understand why such an inhuman attitude is taken on the part of the Hospital and the Administration authorities. Welcome visitors at least one hour every day as is allowed at Manzanar and so not invite indignation of the people which are avoidable if proper steps are taken.

Is This Center Different from Other Centers?

We are not criminals nor traitors. The first impression we had when we entered this camp was that we were being treated as traitors or criminals. But we isseis are simply wishing to return to our old homes, and niseis who were disappointed at ~~the~~ the treatment they received from the American public since the war broken out are following broken-heartedly their parents.

There may besome of narrow minded fanatics and growlers so unruly, but the majority of us hope to live in peace and pray there not be any violence and turmoil in the camp until the day of our departure to Japan.

Both America and Japan olain final victory is theirs in this war. No matter how the war may be brought to an end after a bitter and bloody struggle, however; it is certain that neither side can exterminate other nation to the last man; and sooner or later we all shall have to live in peace as our Creator intended to.

The first question we would be asked when we arrive in the old country is, "How were you treated at the segregation camp?" Let us have a sentiment of gratefulness to the Government of the United States for its fairness and decency when we will have to answer the above question. Our answers will have a strong bearing upon the relationship between the two countries when diplomatic connections are re-established after the war. "Give us segregees a fair treatment."

G remarked that his daughter was becoming worried typing these things out for him. She was afriad he would be arrested as an agitator. (Opler wanted G to work for him, but he refused.) G. then asked me if there was any matter which had taken place in camp which he would explain to me.

I asked him about the unsuccèssful election of May 22.

Non-nomination of Representatives

That's very simple. Every time the Administration asked the camp residents to elect representatives. The first wesent out, they were all put in the stockade. They were denouncing them that they were not representative of camp opinion. So they sent out the next one (Second Negotiating Committee). Then, negotiations were going on. Then the Administration say, "You don't represent camp opinion either." They sent them to the stockade again. Then there were no representatives. Then the former and supervisors in the divisions acted as representatives for the time being until the situation cleared up.

Then in May, the Administration formally requested the camp people to

JUNE 27, p. 4.

elect representatives. Everybody's opinion was, "What's the use?" "Every time we send a representative, they are arrested." If we make more representatives, they will only put more people in the stockade." Everybody said, "What the heck! We don't want to send anymore people to the stockade."

Administrative Policy

Another impression we received soon after we arrived here. The Administrative policy seems to be to make us fight among ourselves and then control the camp. Of course we admit that there are a handful of fanatic patriots and they think that to fight against the Administration is real patriotic. But that's only a handful of people. They agitate all the time and the simple minded people think they are right. That's the only trouble in the camp all right. Their first biggest mistake is that they think we're all traitors or criminals.

If the Administration really wishes to have representatives they can have them. Any trouble that happens in this camp or any other camp always starts by the Administration trying to grab something. Even at the time of the trouble in Manzanar, that trouble was started by the Steward, Campbell, sending sugar to the nearby towns, in cooperation with a few of the Japanese who were taking care of the kitchen. Then the newspapers said the trouble started when the Japanese celebrated Pearl Harbor.

Co-op

The information I get from all over ~~W~~ say that there are a few of the managers of the Co-op who have a close relationship with the WRA officials. They are getting graft out of the Co-op (both Appointed Personnel and evacuees). The first thing I heard when I came to this camp was, "If you say anything against the Co-op here you'll be arrested." As long as the Co-op is carried on this way, someday another big trouble will happen.

Talk with Mr. Province

When Mr. Province was here he asked me how to keep the camp in peace. I said that was very simple. There's only one way. Give them fair treatment. The Japanese, when they think they are treated right, they are always so grateful. They are inspired by fairness, especially at a time like this. But when they ~~xxxx~~ think they are mistreated, they resist, even if they know they will be crushed if they resist, as the Japanese soldier on the battlefield.

Of course, there are a handful of incorrigible people. I myself am for it that they be sent away. But if I said so in camp, I would be killed.

RUMORS FROM CAUCASIANS

Have heard an increasing amount of remarks from Caucasians of Japanese quitting their jobs without giving a reason. This morning at the motor pool, I could not go into Klamath because two drivers had quit without notice. Also hear rumors from both Caucasians and Japanese, that there are many beatings in camp which do not come to the attention of the authorities.

WEDNESDAY, JUNE 28, 1944, p. 1.

A number of stockade internees (listed variously as 19 or 21 men and probably 19 from the stockade and several from the colony going to Crystal City) were sent to Santa Fe today. Their leave taking was accompanied by considerable ceremony. It is reported that they were allowed to take leave of their families yesterday, although I have not been able to check this yet. Moreover, a man on Internal Security said that those leaving had written to their families in the colony, requesting that the families take no part in any demonstration because of this movement to Santa Fe.

From three to four hundred people crowded to the part of the colony fence nearest the stockade. Evacuees employed in the Administrative section watched the proceedings from behind barracks and any other inconspicuous spot available. The internees ~~say~~ sang Japanese patriotic songs and "Auld Lang Syne." Several made speeches. Then dressed in their best, they walked jauntily from the stockade to the bus. As each left, he was given rousing cheers by those remaining behind.

Attitude of the Administration

From ^{Robertson} picked up the following information. Permission to pipe water into the camp, which will enable the evacuees to have small gardens has at last been granted. If not delayed unduly, the water should be available to the residents in about 5 weeks. Mr. Tsuda, ex-Daihyo Sha member, ~~and~~ ex-internee and ex-head of evacuee Internal Security is reputed to have called a meeting of all the relatives of the men who left for Santa Fe last night. The Administration is supposed to be concerned over this. On the whole, though Bestis reported to be in excellent humor and has just telephoned Washington that the camp is going beautifully. Heard also on good authority that Robertson's proposed transfer to Washington is still pending.

THURSDAY, JUNE 29, 1944, page 1

Picked up today the results of a conversation between Lechliter and another Caucasian on the proposed advent of the Civil Liberties Union to Tule. A lawyer is scheduled to arrive on the project some time in the week of July 10. Lechliter said that the evacuee leading the movement is called Okamoto or Okamura. L also believes that the movement is a mistake. Far more could be accomplished by working through the Project Attorney. (It is difficult to visualize the stockade internees being willing to work through the Project Attorney.) Lechliter fears that the hiring of the "inferior" lawyer from the Civil Liberties Union will only result in another ~~defeat~~ legal defeat for the Japanese. Interestingly, the man who started the suit was released from the stockade the week of the 19th of June - after the lawyer was sent for.

FRIDAY, JUNE 30, 1944, p. 1.

Election of Police Commissioners

I have been unable to find anyone with the slightest enthusiasm or interest for this election. Inquired about the results today from a ^{Kayo Iida} nisei girl in block 7. [^] Was told that she knew nothing about it. She didn't know anyone who attended the nominating committee. She said that in her block no one said much about the men having been taken to Santa Fe.

However, another beating had occurred, in block 74. This was a man named Kurihara. Nobody knew exactly why he had been beaten up. It was rumored that he was an ~~Ex~~-Daihyo Sha Kai member (There was a Daihyo Sha member by this name.)

TALK WITH MRS. Yamashiro

The Latest Beating

People are telling George that the man who was beaten didn't know why he was beaten. But some say there was a good reason for it.

Both George and I think there's going to be a lot of trouble here since these 13 men were sent to Santa Fe. (The number listed in the Newell Star was 15 stockade internees and 4 additional men "for violation of parole.")

Mr. Komiya in this block was sent. He was just secretary to Mr. Takahashi. It's very mysterious. It's funny that he was sent to Santa Fe and Mr. Takahashi wasn't even arrested. I can tell you that everybody in this block thinks very very little of him (Mr. T.) The feeling is very bad.

Co-op Gossip ^T

There is a certain man working in the shoestore, an old Tulean. He is the man right under the Caucasian head. He told me that the man who worked before him (before Mr. Best came here) had taken so many thousands of dollars of the profits. We don't profit anything here. The project director sent him out of here (with the money).

Block 68 sentiment on block people working in mess

The people in this block feel that if the people in the block worked in the mess it would be better for the block. In our men the dokushen, the bachelors, are now the head supervisors and they really don't understand. They haven't got families. They do as they please and say, Mr. Hayward can't kick us out.

Santa Fe.

The people are very upset about the people being sent to Santa Fe. Many people say that they have been fooled, they aren't going to be sent to Japan first, just because they were sent to Santa Fe.

I don't know. The people here just shut up. With Mr. Takahashi here, nobody trusts him.

JUNE 30, p. 2.

Nomination of Police Commissioners

The Block manager announced it in the mess hall at lunch time. He said we'd have a meeting. But, he said, a certain number of people have to come to have the meeting, and if you don't come, we can't have it. I don't think many people went. George and I didn't go.

Seinin Dan Book

As soon as George left the Seinin Dan, they put out a book on which they didn't have ~~George's name~~ Best's O.K. George didn't know anything about it.

Yamashiro
(Mrs. Y. evidently feared that George was going to get into trouble over this unapproved publication.)

TALK AT Q'S

Matsuda (called Q)

Heard that block 5 did put up nominees for the wardens. Only about ten people attended the meeting, but the block manager said there was nothing in the announcement ~~///~~ about a quorum so the nominations were made. The Q's were very disgusted about it.

Mrs. Q. heard also from one of the evacuee detectives (employed by Administration) that Mr. Tsuda's house had been patrolled rigorously the ~~night of the 27th, by Internal Security.~~
night of the 27th, by Internal Security. (This fits in well with the Administrative rumor that Tsuda held a meeting of the families of the men about to be sent to Santa Fe.)

Learned also that Kurihara, the man beaten in block 74 had come from Heart Mountain and that he was reputed to be a close friend of Tateishi, head of the Research Committee. There is also a rumor that this Research Committee is disbanding.

Exerpts from letter from Gila, dated, June 26, 1944

The councilmen are all busy welcoming the Jerome residents; they have been going out to Casa Grande each trip and helping them to their respective blocks. I understand that Gila was very unpopular and only a few came here by choice, but people we have met, tell us that they like it very much and they are so glad that they came here.

Did you know that Ishizu (prominent in Community Council) is leaving for Portland, Oregon? The general rumor around camp now is that he is of Chinese ancestry, but raised by a Japanese family. He was pretty well like up to now, but people are suspicious of him since this rumor started and I hear him

JUNE 30, 1944, p. 3.

referred to as a inu who came here under pretense of Japanese ancestry to gather information. Do you know if there is any ground for this rumor?

Poor Ken Nishino (my former block manager), the Army got him. I did not get a chance to see him off but Henry tells me he sure was taking in on the chin. I understand his wife put up a terrible fight and kept telling him it was his fault for telling the Dr. that nothing was wrong with him when he was called for his physical, and she even fought and nagged at him the night before he left. Isn't that terrific! I hope the Army will make a man out of Ken so that he can wear the pants in his family.

I told Henry that I hate Camp life and wanted to get out as soon as possible. I asked him to let me go out alone first and look for housing as all of our friends write that jobs are plentiful but the problem is housing, and since I only intend to work part time while D. goes to school, I thought it better if I go first and the change might help me snap out of this emotional upset, but Henry does not agree with me so I guess I will have to grin and bear it.

I must tell you what D. said when the first contingent of Jerome residents came here. Since no one came to 63 he asked me if it was all right to go see them come into block 64. After he came home he said, "What a waste time, all the girls look like Filipinos."

ADMINISTRATIVE DISAPPROVAL OF MY TALKING WITH STAFF MEMBER

Was told this evening that an innocent conversation I had held one morning with a staff member had been observed and reported to Mr. Wells. The staff member was told that he should have been working. (This may have no reflection on me personally, but it shows that the Caucasian inu contingent is very alert.)